FACTORS AFFECTING STUDENT RETENTION WITHIN A FACULTY-CENTERED STUDENT ADVISEMENT PROGRAM AT A RURAL COMMUNITY COLLEGE

A Record of Study

by

ANNA SCHUSTER KANTOR

Submitted to the Office of Graduate Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

May 2007

Major Subject: Agricultural Education

FACTORS AFFECTING STUDENT RETENTION WITHIN A FACULTY-CENTERED STUDENT ADVISEMENT PROGRAM AT A RURAL COMMUNITY COLLEGE

A Record of Study

by

ANNA SCHUSTER KANTOR

Submitted to the Office of Graduate Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

Approved by:

Co-Chairs of Committee, J

Committee Members,

Head of Department,

James R. Lindner Chad S. Davis Kim E. Dooley David A. Lawver Larry M. Dooley Christine Townsend

May 2007

Major Subject: Agricultural Education

ABSTRACT

Factors Affecting Student Retention within a Faculty-Centered Student Advisement Program at a Rural Community College. (May 2007) Anna Schuster Kantor, B.S., Texas A&M University; M.S., Texas A&M University Co-Chairs of Advisory Committee: Dr. James R. Lindner Dr. Chad S. Davis

The purpose of this descriptive and correlational study was to examine factors to determine if a faculty-centered student advisement program, which was implemented at a rural community college, affects student retention in a positive manner. The Community College Survey of Student Engagement (CCSSE) was incorporated, and data collected by this group provided the basis for the study. The study was a comparative study of quantitative parameters looking at five benchmarks. The five benchmarks included active/collaborative learning, student effort, academic challenge, student faculty interaction, and support for learners based on teaching, learning and retention in community colleges with regards to personal characteristics of age, gender, ethnicity, and enrollment status. Analysis of variance provided information between the benchmarks and personal characteristics and the quality of advising, and correlations were run using the various benchmarks and personal characteristics in order to determine any connections between the benchmarks themselves and quality of advising. In addition, the Quality Enhancement Plan (QEP), created

iii

by this rural community college, was analyzed from 2004 to 2006 to determine any inferred connection with the benchmarks and the quality of advising because of the implementation of the QEP. Findings show that, even though the survey CCSSE instrument used to determine student engagement and its function in student retention may not provide the most accurate results in general for Navarro College, the implementation of the faculty-centered student advisement program has coincided with an increase in graduation rates, an increase in fall to first fall persistence, and an increase in GPAs as evident at Navarro College.

DEDICATION

To my dear family

I have to give my sincere appreciation to Ted, my husband, to Ashton and Zane, our children, and to my parents, Edmund and Roxianne Schuster. This appreciation is given for so many reasons: for understanding when the clothes were not dried and put away, for loving me even when I missed one or two school or extra-curricular activities because I was in class or working on homework for class, for supporting every one of us when you had to get the kids from school, fix supper, and check homework for us, but mostly for showing me love and support because you guys were always behind me, pushing me to reach further and believing in me. Words are not enough to say "thank you." I love each of you in a special and wonderfully unique way. What an education you have lived with me over the past four years. Thank you, and 143-TMjr.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This adventure began over four years ago with the call to Dr. Briers at A&M, the completion of the application process, and then a trip to Lubbock. I have worked over these years with some fantastic leaders and educators at two outstanding universities in Texas. I have me wonderful individuals in the Doc@Distance program. Some for whom I am indebted and grateful to have ridden this ride together. And, I have learned and grown even more than I had imagined that I could. This is my list to whom I show gratitude and appreciation.

Dr. Jimmy Lindner, my respected and creative advisor, kept me on the right track and kept telling me that I was on the right track. I appreciate you open-mindedness, your tenacity to stretch my open-mindedness, and your sincere patience and dedication to me, your student, and to my research.

Dr. Chad Davis always had kind words and patient guidance for me, he understood and listened, and he gave me confidence when I was taking the written examinations as well as when I was writing and writing again.

Dr. Kim Dooley is the epitome of providing that needed boost in my confidence each and every time I spoke with her, in all forms of media: electronic mail, telephone, test message, and in person. She give that special touch to education.

vi

Dr. Gary Briers, my academic career-long mentor, was there for guidance, assurance, and confidence at every turn, from the beginning to the end. I thank you for twenty years of believing in me and for helping me to always push forward, even at a distance, with my education and my dreams.

Dr. Richard Sanchez has been supportive beyond words as the Navarro College President. He has allowed me access to the college's data, and he has been encouraging about my progress. His enthusiasm about me reaching my goal has been contagious for me.

Mr. Dewayne Gragg, Dean of Enrollment Management at Navarro College, has been instrumental in getting Navarro College data to me, in deciphering some of that data, and in answering most of my never-ending questions. His patience and availability have been greatly appreciated.

Mr. Tim Samuels, Dr. Larry Weaver, and Mr. Guy Featherston have been my Deans over the past fours years, and each one of them has been supportive of me. Mr. Samuels was super supportive and helpful with the technical aspects at the beginning; Dr. Weaver was there for me with tips and encouragement in the middle and with written exams because he has been there; and Mr. Featherston became the Dean of the South Campus in June and has provided me with an extra boost here at the end with his concern for me and my teaching load. The Faculty and Staff of Navarro College South Campus have been wonderfully understanding as I stressed over statistics exams, fretted with qualitative research projects, and lost my usual cool over seemingly nothingness over the past four years. After ten years of friendships formed with some of the greatest teachers and office staffers anywhere, I really appreciate these people, especially Anna Pat Alpert, Susan Humphrey, and Dr. Jack Pierce.

Mexia ISD and Charlene Simpson allowed my to receive my ITV classes in a district computer lab, and I appreciate Ms. Simpson's, the school administration's, and the school board's love of education by allowing me this computer connectivity.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page	e
AB	STRACTii	i
DE	DICATION	V
AC	KNOWLEDGEMENTS v	'n
TA	BLE OF CONTENTSiz	X
LIS	T OF TABLESxi	i
LIS	T OF FIGURES xv	v
СН	APTER	
Ι	INTRODUCTION	1
	Theoretical Framework 2 Statement of Problem 2 Purpose of Study 2 Objectives of the Study 2 Significance of Study 2 Methods 10 Limitations of Study 12 Definitions of Terms 12	3 5 6 7 8 0 2 2
Π	REVIEW OF LITERATURE 14	4
	Student Retention14Academic Advising22Community Colleges28Navarro College29The Faculty-Centered Student Advisement Program30Conceptual Framework of the Study32	4 3 8 9 0 3
III	METHODOLOGY	4
	Benchmarks of the Study34Type of Research30Population and Sample38Instrumentation42Instrument Validity/Reliability42	4 6 8 2

CH	IAPTER	Page
IV	ANALYSIS OF DATA	44
	Personal Characteristics of Participants	44
	Findings Related to Each of the Eight Objectives	48
	Objective One	49
	Objective Two	53
	Objective Three	59
	Objective Four	65
	Objective Five	69
	Objective Six	73
	Objective Seven	83
	Objective Eight	88
V	FINDINGS/CONCLUSIONS/IMPLICATIONS	
	Objectives of the Study	
	Summary of Methodology	
	Summary of Key Findings/Implications for Each Objective	100
	Objective One: Key Findings	101
	Objective One: Conclusions/Implications	102
	Objective One: Recommendations	102
	Objective Two: Key Findings	102
	Objective Two: Conclusions/Implications	103
	Objective Two: Recommendations	103
	Objective Three: Key Findings	103
	Objective Three: Conclusions/Implications	104
	Objective Three: Recommendations	104
	Objective Four: Key Findings	105
	Objective Four: Conclusions/Implications	105
	Objective Four: Recommendations	106
	Objective Five: Key Findings	106
	Objective Five: Conclusions/Implications	107
	Objective Five: Recommendations	108
	Objective Six: Key Findings	108
	Objective Six: Conclusions/Implications	109
	Objective Six: Recommendations	110
	Objective Seven: Key Findings	111
	Objective Seven: Conclusions/Implications	111
	Objective Seven: Recommendations	112
	Objective Eight: Key Findings	112
	Objective Eight: Conclusions/Implications	113
	Objective Eight: Recommendations	114

Page

Additional Implications and Recommendations Recommendations for Further Studies	114 115
REFERENCES	117
APPENDIX A	123
APPENDIX B	125
APPENDIX C	127
APPENDIX D	131
VITA	140

LIST OF TABLES

TAE	BLE Page
1.	Reliability of Dependent Variables of the Survey
2.	Percentage Breakdown of Participants' Ages 45
3.	Percentage Breakdown of Students by Gender 45
4.	Percentage Breakdown of Students According to Ethnicity 46
5.	International Students Completing the Survey in 2004 and 2006 46
6.	Breakdown of Students According to Enrollment Status 47
7.	Total Enrollment Breakdown for Navarro College from 2004 and200648
8.	Frequency Table for Benchmark One, Active/Collaborative Learning for 2004 and 2006
9.	Average Means for Navarro College for Benchmark One, Collaborative/Active Learning for 2004 and 2006
10.	Frequency Table for Benchmark Two, Student Effort for 2004 and 2006
11.	Benchmark Two Student Effort Frequency Table Reflecting Hours Preparing for Classes for 2004 and 2006
12.	Benchmark Two, Student Effort Frequency Table About Using Tutorial Labs for 2004 and 2006
13.	Average Means for Navarro College for Benchmark Two, Student Effort for 2004 and 2006
14.	Average Means for Benchmark Two for 2006 58
15.	Frequency Table for Benchmark Three, Academic Challenge for 2004 and 2006 60
16.	Frequency Table for Benchmark Three, Academic Challenge for the Number of Books Read and Papers Written for 2004 and 2006

TAB	SLE	Page
17.	Frequency Table for Benchmark Three, Academic Challenge About Challenge of Examinations for 2004 and 2006	63
18.	Average Means for Navarro College for Benchmark Three, Academic Challenge for 2004 and 2006	64
19.	Mean Average for Benchmark Three, Encouraging Students to Study More for 2004 and 2006	65
20.	Benchmark Four, Student-Faculty Interaction Frequency Table	66
21.	Benchmark Four, Student-Faculty Interaction Means for 2004 and 2006	68
22.	Benchmark Five, Support for Learners Frequency Table for 2004 and 2006.	70
23.	Benchmark Five Frequency Table Showing the Amounts of Time Academic and Career Planning	71
24.	Average Means of Benchmark Five, Support for Learners in 2006	72
25.	Benchmark Five, Support for Learners Question that Falls Below the Average Mean of the Consortium and the Cohort for 2006	73
26.	Frequencies of the Two Years of the Survey	73
27.	Overall Findings of the Five Benchmarks of the Study with Valid Surveys Submitted to CCSSE for 2004 and 2006	74
28.	Comparison of Navarro College Benchmark Scores for 2004 and 2006	76
29.	Benchmark Frequencies According to Age for 2004 and 2006	77
30.	Gender Frequencies for 2004 and 2006	78
31.	Male versus Female Responses to the Benchmarks	79
32.	Ethnicity Frequencies for 2004 and 2006	80
33.	International Students or Foreign National Students Frequency Table for 2004 and 2006	81

TAE	BLE Page
34.	Ethnicity Across Benchmarks
35.	Benchmarks Versus Enrollment Status
36.	Comparative Summative Mean Scores for Benchmarks One, Two, and Three for Navarro College and the Cohort
37.	Comparative Summative Mean Scores for Benchmark Five Support for Learners for Navarro College and the Cohort
38.	Comparative Summative Mean Scores for Benchmark Four Student- Faculty Interaction for Navarro College and the Cohort
39.	First-Time, Full-Time Students Returning in Spring Semester According to Ethnicity
40.	First-Time, Full-Time Students Returning in Spring Semester According to Age
41.	Fall to Spring Persistence First Fall GPA Comparison
42.	Graduation Rates at Navarro College after Implementing the Faculty- Centered Student Advisement Program

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGU	URE Pa	ıge
1.	Framework for the Study	33
2.	Implementation Stages of Navarro College Faculty-Centered Student Advisement Program	85
3.	First-Time, Full-Time Students Returning First Spring and then Fall and the following Spring	89
4.	First-Time, Full-Time Students Persistence According to Ethnicity	90
5.	First-Time, Full-Time Students Returning in Spring Semester According to Age	92
6.	Fall to Spring Persistence First Fall GPA Comparison	93
7.	Returning First-Time, Full-Time Fall Students to the first Spring Semester Enrollment According to Navarro College Campus	94
8.	Graduation Rates at Navarro College after Implementing the Faculty-Centered Student Advisement Program	95

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

College student departure has been studied for over seventy years, and with approximately 30% of the students entering the collegiate classroom in the fall for the first time and not returning the following fall (Amaury, Barlow, & Crisp, 2005), more research in this area is needed in order to help students find personal success. The number is more staggering at the community college level. At two year institutions, nearly half of all beginning students leave college before the beginning of the second year (Tinto, 1993). Likewise, in today's fast-paced society, the need for quality public education that works to integrate students into the academic as well as the social realm of college life is more evident than ever; however, the need for student success at those public educational institutions is even more apparent because of the high level of attrition. According to the Kellogg Commission (2000), institutions of higher education are endowed with the irreducible idea that public institutions exist to advance the common good.

In looking across education in America, we note that John Dewey (1916) believed in the necessity of quality public education for our common good, and that men and women must participate in the problematic issues of law, industry and education (Durant, 1961). This participation, success and common good cannot be attained without quality student retention, and

This dissertation follows the style and format of the Journal of Agricultural Education.

retention is defined most clearly as the capacity for retaining. In other words, retention is "staying in school until completion of a degree" (Hagedorn, 2005, p. 91). One way of looking at the term retention is that retention is students (Berger & Lyon, 2005). Another way to look at retention is that it is a campusbased phenomenon, and it is important to note that most students who enroll in courses at community colleges do not intend to earn degrees, so retention varies widely by type of program. On the other hand, one proposed concept to assist with an increased retention rate is the use of academic advising. According to Metzner (1989), advising helps retention. Recent trends have shown that retention is becoming recognized as the responsibility of all educators on campus (Berger & Lyon, 2005). This concept, to participate in personal issues by the faculty advisor, juxtaposes to a concept for students to seek advisement as well as the idea to foster a faculty that is willing and prepared to assist in advisement. These two become one, and it is this one that becomes an essential element in the retention of college students.

While there is general consensus that good academic advising is an important factor in student success (Railsback & Colby, 1988) and that student retention was positively related to contact with faculty (Pascarella & Terenzini, 1991), there is little knowledge on the amount or type of total effect on student retention, student enhancement, student attrition, or overall student success. Many colleges across the country are attempting to improve student success by requiring students to meet with an academic advisor on a regular basis. Likewise, effective advising can meet both the students' needs and the needs of the institution (Railsback & Colby, 1988) because solid, positive contact between faculty and students in an advising system promotes student satisfaction with the college experience and this can encourage them to remain in college long enough to fulfill their educational goals. This type of advisement requires student involvement at the community college level, and according to a study performed in 2003, this participation includes receiving on-going academic assistance (Chaves, 2003). The literature listed is replete in suggesting that student contact with a faculty member is the only primary consideration in the student's decision to leave or stay; however, the literature clearly states that faculty members must become active participants in any program designed to positively facilitate college student persistence. The examination of the effectiveness of advising students as a fundamental process used to keep students in the system and to assist them in creating and achieving lifetime goals is still needed because student success means success for everyone: students, institutions, and communities.

Theoretical Framework

Retention is defined as the power of or capacity for retaining, and "to retain" or persist is defined as to hold or keep in possession. Along with research supporting the notion that an institution of higher learning can increase retention with an increase in academic and social interactions (Tinto, 1993), a successful retention program includes some type of academic component as well as social connections. With this type of program in place, institutions can achieve both academic achievement and involvement on the part of the student as well as advancement in social participation with a substantive individual from the institution itself, which is most closely contained in Tinto's Integration Model (1975). This creates a retention model based on the concepts of academic integration and social integration for successful student retention at the collegiate level. As explained by Bean and Eaton (2000), the rest of the seventies, eighties, and early nineties were influenced by Tinto's work to which he added another component of a student's right of passage for successful retention in the late eighties. Thus, the groundwork for what administrators needed to produce and maintain, in order to retain students, was given, but the "how-to" steps to achieve this were not.

The most commonly referenced model in the student retention/dropout literature is Tinto's Model (1975). Tinto's model began in a review of the literature in 1975 and has been supported because of its consistency with other people's research and because it is theoretically derived in correlation with Durkheim's model (1951) of suicide. In addition, Tinto (1975) presented a model that has the common sense notion of integration, and this model appeals to many. Its central theme of "integration" is tied directly to its claim: a student's ability or inability to stay or persist is strongly correlated and can predict the degree of both academic and social integration. An overall glance of Tinto's model shows these two areas of integration, with academic integration pertaining to grades and the student's perception of himself as a student and with social integration pertaining to friends and the student's perception of

4

having friends and being involved (Tinto, 1975). This retention model is popular and has gained much respect because of its central idea of integration; its claim is that the ultimate commodity working to determine whether a student persists or fades is very strongly connected to the degree of academic assuredness and social connectedness. This is integration into the collegiate life that all students must achieve in order to succeed.

Statement of Problem

Retention of college students is a national problem, and college campuses across the country are working to determine the means necessary to assist students in persistence. Even so, there is little knowledge on the amount or type of total effect on student retention, student enhancement, student attrition, or overall student success. Retention at the collegiate level has many components that both support and hinder the individual success of the student; thus, we then have outside inputs and student perceptions affecting the desired outcome of college student retention and even more so at the community college level. Therefore, a single definition of student retention at a community college is elusive; however, several key factors seem to dominate several given definitions. These factors include the following:

1. "Initial identification of the student's goal;

- 2. Periodic verification or adjustment of the goal; and
- 3. Persistence of the student toward the goal" (Wild & Ebbers, 2002, p. 506).

Even though access to higher education is readily available, many students who begin a college career or educational program fail to persist (Tinto, 1993); in other words, they drop out prior to finishing a degree and this can lead to failure in achieving personal goals academically, professionally, and socially. The response by collegiate institutions to attrition has grown over the past several years. Colleges have developed intervention programs and services to try and retain students. Even so, many studies are indicating that approximately only 50% of those who enter higher education actually receive a bachelor's degree according to the U.S. Department of Education, Center for Educational Statistics (Tinto, 1993). With this, enrollment management, specifically retention, has become top priority for many individuals ranging from students to parents of students, from faculty to administrators, and from state to federal government. A formula for successful retention is needed in order for students and communities to continue to thrive in this ever-changing and complex global environment.

Purpose of Study

The purpose of this study is to determine if a faculty-centered student advisement program implemented at a rural community college affects student retention in a positive manner.

Objectives of the Study

The specific objectives of the study were to:

- Describe participants' perceptions of active and collaborative learning during 2004 and 2006.
- Describe participants' perceptions of student effort during 2004 and 2006.
- Describe participants' perceptions of academic challenge during 2004 and 2006.
- 4. Describe participants' perceptions of student-faculty interaction during 2004 and 2006.
- 5. Describe participants' perceptions of support for learners during 2004 and 2006.
- 6. Examine participant perceptions of active and collaborative learning, student effort, academic challenge, student-faculty interaction, and support for learners and personal characteristics for 2004 and 2006 and any relationships with the responses from 2004 and 2006.
- Describe the faculty-centered student advisement program implemented at Navarro College as a means to improve teaching, learning, and retention.
- 8. Describe the faculty-centered student advisement program inferred impacts on student teaching, learning, and retention.

Significance of Study

The implications of this type of study may be helpful to the community college enrollment environment; likewise it may be helpful to four-year institutions, as well. In addition, two-thirds of the advancement made by students in knowledge and cognitive skill development occur during the first two years of college, but a significant portion of those college students at American colleges and universities never make it to the second year at their initial institution (Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005). Therefore, the need to improve the retention of students from the first to second year is crucial to the overall success of college students.

On the student level, positive reinforcement occurring at a one-on-one level with a faculty member can assist the student with the integration process into college life. It has been determined through the literature that the student needs assistance with integrating into college life, both academically and socially. Therefore, students who belong to one or more enclaves of the collegiate culture are more likely to persist and achieve goals. This immersion into college culture means the student is more likely to persist (Kuh & Love 2000).

Faculty members are primarily interested in the academic integration, and since the home for the faculty member is the classroom, this classroom serves as the site for academic integration. This classroom hub, which is dominated by the faculty members, must be seen as the meeting grounds for academic integration, and with a positive view of the institution's mission to 8

foster student retention, faculty members "should embrace a commitment to the welfare of the student" (Braxton & Hirschy, 2005, p. 79) and work for inclusion and classroom success in order to better serve the needs of the student. This in turn creates a more positive classroom environment, which works to promote a more positive college experience leading to higher student persistence. This positive classroom environment is a plus for any faculty member.

Even so, this is not only a faculty level concern, and, even as individual faculty members work to embrace and reflect the goals and values of their college (Braxton & Hirschy, 2005), the administration must work with them as well. It has been suggested by research that involvement and concern shown by faculty members should be part of the annual review (Braxton & Hirschy, 2005). This inclusion into the annual faculty review is one way to document involvement and concern with the institution's commitment to retention and student success.

Retention at the college level is important to administrators. With the growing demands for accountability for funding, administrators involved with higher education are more concerned than ever with retaining students than ever. The decision by the student is updated continually based upon changing information, such as academic status, grades, and satisfaction with the social life or student peer group. This information is not part of the initial enrollment decision (Wetzel, O'Toole & Peterson, 1999). Therefore, enrollment management and counseling services have grown over the years to meet the demands. An institution involved on all levels of student retention is more likely

to find success, and a faculty-centered student advisement program is one such step in ensuring success on both student and institutional levels.

Methods

Navarro College participated in a national survey focused on teaching, learning, and retention in community colleges. The Community College Survey of Student Engagement (CCSSE) was a project housed within The Community College Leadership Program at The University of Texas in Austin. Data was collected in 2004 and 2006 on five benchmark areas: active and collaborative learning, student effort, academic challenge, student faculty interaction, and support for learners, based on teaching, learning and retention in community colleges. The data provided by CCSSE is in aggregate form, with report data for the colleges participating in this study, and they recommend that individual community colleges delve more deeply into the data to identify individual effects of a community college's effort to improve teaching, learning, and retention. The research reported in this study is an attempt to disaggregate data from the national study and to describe the effects of the local program at Navarro College to increase the teaching, learning, and retention at this community college.

According to Navarro College President, the instrument was administered to students in classes using stratified random sampling from all three operating campuses within Navarro College by faculty after the local college had eliminated course sections that were internet based or dual credit and those sections in which the entire class did not meet as a group, such as certificate-based business courses and practicum sections (R. Sanchez, personal communication, February 8, 2006). CCSSE personnel used the random stratified sampling, which accounted for gender, race/ethnicity, age and enrollment status. In addition, the courses were selected randomly by CCSSE to ensure a representative sample and to preserve the integrity of the survey results. Access to this information was provided by CCSSE administrators. Instructors from the three campuses, whose classes were selected for survey administration, received specific information from their respective administrators on administering the survey.

The CCSSE survey was administered over a five day period, took approximately thirty minutes to complete and was administered to 654 students. The surveys were returned to the office of enrollment management and then forwarded to The Community College Leadership Program for tabulation and comparison. This survey can be used to assist the college in identifying where it is and what further action may be helpful in the continued work to support and strengthen teaching and learning by identifying what the students do in and out of the classroom, by knowing their goals, and by better understanding their external responsibilities. We, as administrators and faculty members, can create an environment that enhances student learning, development, and retention (R. Sanchez, personal communication, February 8, 2006).

Limitations of Study

Since the results of any given student on the student satisfaction survey are not dependent on other students' results, this information is considered absolute, and this becomes the defined assessment domain or criterionreferenced interpretations (Popham, 2000). In using this type of assessment, credit is given to a test result based upon a defined assessment domain. In other words, a high level of student satisfaction, as it pertains to academic advising, is pre-determined and then the survey results are compared back to this defined domain. A caution for this study is that a portion of the validity is found in the interpretation of student results of the satisfaction inventory more so on the actual score achieved on the survey. However, internal consistency is reached because the survey was administered across the three existing campuses in the same manner, at the same time in the semester, and with the same instruction.

Definitions of Terms

To understand the phenomenon called retention, it is important to note that the conceptualization of retention has not been consistent over the decades of studying it. Therefore, it is important to define and review the terminology because it has changed over time. The following terms were defined by Berger and Lyon in their article, "Past to Present: A Historical Look at Retention," as it appears in *College Student Retention: Formula for Student Success* (Seidman, 2005): *Attrition*—refers to students who fail to reenroll at an institution in consecutive semesters.

Dismissal—refers to a student who is not permitted by the institution to continue enrollment.

Dropout—refers to a student whose initial educational goal was to complete at least a bachelor's degree but who did not complete it.

Mortality—refers to the failure of students to remain in college until graduation.

Persistence—refers to the desire and action of a student to stay within the system of higher education from beginning year through degree completion.

Retention—refers to the ability of an institution to retain a student from admission to the university through graduation.

Stopout—refers to a student who temporarily withdraws from an institution or system (p. 7).

Student success – refers to the occurrence for both the student and the college to fulfill their respective responsibilities in the learning process (Navarro College: Quality enhancement plan, 2006, p. 15).

Withdrawal—refers to the departure of a student from a college or university campus (Berger & Lyon, p. 7).

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

The purpose of this chapter is to provide a comprehensive review of the literature on the effect of an advising program on the retention of community college students. This review is intended to outline the effects of instituting a faculty-centered advising program at a small, rural community college as it affects the retention of first-time, full-time community college students. This chapter is comprised of five major sections: student retention, academic advising, community colleges, Navarro College, and its advising program.

Student Retention

A pressing concern for institutions of higher education is student retention (Tinto, 1993). Retention of college students is faltering, and college campuses across the country need to determine the means necessary to assist students in persistence. Retention at the collegiate level has many components that both support and hinder individual success of the student; thus, we then have outside inputs and student perceptions affecting the desired outcome of college student retention and even more so at the community college level. Retention is defined as "the power of or capacity for retaining," and to retain is defined as "to hold or keep in possession," and with research supporting the notion that an institution of higher learning can increase retention with an increase in academic and social interactions (Tinto, 1993), a successful retention program includes some type of academic component, as well as social connections. Thus said, the fundamental thought of attending college is very different from the on-going decision to remain in college. "The student retention decision is continually updated with the arrival of new information such as academic status, grades, and satisfaction with the social life or student peer group, i.e., information not present in the initial enrollment decision" (Wetzel, O'Toole & Peterson, 1999). Even so, the prevailing definitions of student retention have historically been based in the university setting; this setting is vastly different from the community college setting. Thus, defining retention for the community college arena is an interesting concept in itself. One definition of retention at the community college level is phrased as a persistence rate and deals more with the consideration of students' goals other than graduation rates (Wild & Ebbers, 2002).

Bartlett and Abell (1995) studied the number of first-time-in-college students as they were retained or persisted in that first year to the second year. Their study was over a ten-year period at a four-year institution in the Midwest. This particular institution retained between 72 and 80 percent of these beginning, first-year students from the first fall to the second fall. This is an exceptional retention rate; the decline in the retention rate seems to begin during the third year, with only 55 to 65 percent persisting. This data is supported by the National Center for Educational Statistics (NCES) when the center reported that approximately 66 percent of students persisted to the third year (2007). Likewise, there is a common effort by community colleges to define retention as "consecutive semester enrollment and grade point average...as it pertains to the community college student who is not dedicated to graduation (Wild & Ebbers, 2002). Tinto's Integration Model (1975) for student retention places importance on the connection made with the student to achieve both academic achievement and involvement on the part of the student as well as advancement in social participation with a substantive individual from the institution itself; this creates a retention model based on the concepts of academic integration and social integration for successful student retention at the collegiate level.

Tinto's Model (1975) is the most commonly referenced model in the student retention/dropout literature began in a review of literature in 1975 and has been supported because of its consistency with other people's research and because it is theoretically derived in correlation with Durkheim's theory (1951) of suicide. In addition, Tinto presented a model that has the common sense notion of integration and this concept of integration appeals to many individuals working for increased college student retention. Its central theme of integration is tied directly to its claim: a student's ability or inability to stay or persist is strongly correlated and can predict the degree of both academic and social integration. An overall glance of Tinto's model (1975) shows these two areas of integration, with academic integration pertaining to grades and the student's perception of himself as a student and with social integration pertaining to

friends and the student's perception of having friends and being involved (Tinto, 1975).

The academic integration of Tinto's model (1975) includes structural and normative dimensions. The structural integration of college students requires that the student meet the standards of the college, whereas, the normative dimension of the model is the relationship of the student with the structure of the academic system of the college (Tinto, 1975). This retention model is popular and has gained much respect because of its central idea of integration; its claim is that the ultimate commodity working to determine whether a student persists or fades is closely connected to the degree of academic assuredness and social connectedness. This is integration into the collegiate life that all students must achieve in order to succeed.

Similar to Tinto's model (1975), Bean and Eaton's (2000) retention model states that areas need to be addressed per student for overall retention success and is based on four psychological theories, including the following:

- 1. "Attitude-behavior theory;
- 2. Coping-behavior theory;
- 3. Self-efficacy theory; and
- 4. Attribution theory" (p. 75).

The overall flow of this model centers on the individual's psychological attributes as they are formed by experience, abilities, and self-assessments. The student then interacts with the collegiate environment to determine self-efficacy, and with positive interactions both inside and outside the classroom or academically and socially, the student's self-assessment becomes more positive and their general feelings about the university or college become stronger. Bean and Eaton's (2000) psychological model states that "as academic and social efficacy increase, academic and social integration also increase" (p. 77). In addition, college administrators need to consider student retention in the evaluation of student services (Sharkin, 2004, p. 99). This emotional connection is a motivational reaction and can cause the student to remain if the overall environment and self-efficacy is positive, thus retention occurs.

John P. Bean and Tinto are the early pioneers in the field of student retention at colleges; whereas, Bean fully supports the concept of integration, and as the author of a student attrition model in 1990 (Agho, Mueller, & Price, 1993), Bean deviates from Tinto a bit because Bean stresses "that students" beliefs which subsequently shape their attitudes are the predictor of their persistence" (p. 93). With this in mind, the theories support that students' beliefs are shaped and affected by the amount of interaction or engagement of the students with particular parts of the institution. Bean created this theory based on the Price/Mueller model, which was created in 1981, of employee turnover behavior (Agho, Mueller & Price, 1993). Bean's ideas behind his theory center on the college student's social integration into the environment, and his concept has been confirmed and substantiated over the years and by differing student groups at several institutions of higher education (Nora, 2004).

In addition to Tinto's model (1975) for student retention and Bean and Eaton's psychological model (2000), Pascarella and Terenzini (1991) concur

18

with the component of retention defined as a student leaving an institution only after achieving a personal goal. For example, the completion of a particular course or the acquisition of a particular skill work to keep students involved or retained at both residential and commuter colleges is achieved. In addition, they agree with Tinto (1975) in that both academic and out-of-class experiences at the collegiate level contribute to the intellectual orientation of students. Pascarella and Terenzini (1991) conducted research beginning in 1980, testing Tinto's model (1975) of college student retention. The findings in this case, which consisted of six studies assessing three independent data collections over a three-year period, indicate that students' contact, informal and formal, with faculty members consistently relate to student persistence decisions as outlined by Pascarella and Terenzini (1991). Even so, a single definition of student retention at a community college is elusive; however, several key factors seem to dominate several given definitions. Some of these positive retention factors include the following:

- 1. "Initial identification of the student's goal;
- 2. Periodic verification or adjustment of the goal; and
- 3. Persistence of the student toward the goal" (Wild & Ebbers, 2002, p. 506).

Student retention is important to the success of the student; student retention is important to the success of the community college. Tinto's model (1975), as supported by Bean and Eaton (2000) as well as Pascarella and Terenzini (1991), is the conceptual framework to use when thinking about, working with and

researching college student retention. Retention as seen here is needed for both students and the institution to retain and to be retained.

Astin's Theory of Involvement (1984) is stated as "student involvement refers to the amount of physical and psychological energy a student devotes to the academic experience" (p. 298). This theory purports five basic tenets, including: involvement can be generalized or specific; involvement follows a continuum specific to each student; involvement is quantitative and qualitative; involvement is associated with personal development; and educational policy works to increase student involvement. Therefore, Astin's theory (1984) further supports the concept of engagement, both academically and socially, on the student's part plays a key part in the retention of collegiate students. Astin's theory (1984) simply states that the more students are involved, the more likely they are to graduate.

Another theory, which places value on integration for the engagement of students, is Pace's theory (1984). This theory relates the amount and type of academic opportunities presented to students by an institution to the extent that the students take advantage of these opportunities to increase their own intellectual experiences. Likewise, this theory strongly places emphasis on the quality of the student experience based on the function of the quality of effort of integration of students on the institutional level. Thus noted, these theories all build upon the concept of student integration.

So many of the theories studied and reviewed over the past thirty years support this integration and engagement concept of students, however, many of the institutions studied have been four-year institutions. Generalizations made about students and about institutions by many of these theories do not always coincide with students at two-year institutions. A recent review by Braxton, Hirschy, and McClendon (2004), which looked closely at Tinto's Model of Integration (1975), has determined that there are differences in this theory's applicability between the students at four-year institutions and students at twoyear institutions. An example of a difference is the construct of student entry characteristics between two-year institutions and four-year institutions (Braxton, Hirschy & McClendon, 2004). These determining factors, for admittance into the institutions, are different for primarily commuter colleges and for primarily residential colleges, which is a major difference in two-year and four-year institutions. In addition, a huge contrast in commuter and residential colleges is the well-defined communities. Commuter colleges, which are often the twoyear institutions, lack social structure because many of these students have other obligations, such as work and family (Tinto, 1993) whereas residential colleges tend to have well-defined social communities (Braxton, Hirschy & McClendon, 2004). This additional difference can and does affect the amount of or perceived amount of engagement on the part of the college student with the institution.

Even with minor differences in some of the constructs of Tinto's model (1975), Braxton, Hirschy, and McClendon (2004) have evaluated Tinto's retention model (1993) repeatedly and have statistically determined that there is a strong connection between social integration and retention.
John Braxton (2000) edited a book in which several contemporary authors of retention theories and models who took a new look at the theories have worked to create new views on these revered theories. The need for this revamping is that many of these theories do not address differences in the needs of diverse college students. Braxton, in *Reworking the Student Departure Puzzle*, establishes that, even though an appropriate level of literature about college student retention exists from the past quarter century and that this literature supports the importance of this issue, the concept of retention and the necessary tools for adequate measurement tools for retention are ambiguous and still need further study. This is further explained by Tinto when, in 1993 in his book Leaving College: Rethinking the Causes and Cures of Student Attrition, he explains that most of the discussion that has occurred over the past thirty years can be applied to the development of retention programs in two-year colleges. He added that retention at two-year colleges, similar to four-year institutions, must be emphasized through advising programs for first-time students and enhanced with classroom learning communities. Community colleges create the ideal environment, with smaller class sizes, to meet with these students and to create classroom learning communities.

The literature supporting this concept of integration is available, and despite differences in some of the theoretical perspectives, a key component mentioned from one theory to another is student integration to enhance student engagement; thus, the framework supporting this research is well-grounded.

In addition, student retention is an issue at all levels of collegiate life, such as departmentally within colleges at universities. Therefore, student retention is critical to Agricultural Education. Members within the field are studying retention as well. James E. Dyer, Lisa M. Breja and Anna L. Ball (2003, p. 86) have studied retaining students in high school agriculture programs to reveal that high school students deal with many of the issues of college students from scheduling conflicts to the image of agriculture to increase graduation requirements. Ball, Dyer and Garton (2001, p. 54) studied retention of students in college agriculture programs to promote them to stay in their agriculture programs and to work in the agriculture industry after graduation. Retention in the agriculture education arena includes studying students, from 4-H students to high school students to college-level students. However, it also includes the teachers as well. Retaining quality high school agriculture teachers has been determined to increase the retention of their students (Myers, Dyer & Washburn, 2005, p. 47).

Academic Advising

The need for academic advising has general consensus among institutions of higher education and has strong support by most researchers that it is extremely important for successful completion of collegiate degrees by students and for the reduction of attrition across the nation (Tinto, 1993). Academic advising is important to the success of college students, and the "inability to obtain needed advice during the first year...can undermine motivation" (Tinto, 2005. p. 322), and this can increase the likelihood of departure from college. It is an essential ingredient for the successful completion of school, and by working together, the advisor and the student can clarify goals in an atmosphere of open communication.

According to the American College Testing Program (ACT) (2006), academic advising is defined as a process which assists students in the clarification of their goals, both for career and life, and as the educational plan to achieve these goals. Along these same lines, the National Academic Advising Association (NACADA) defines advising as the part of the educational process that involves helping students develop a realistic selfperception and successfully transition to higher education. Likewise, the ACT Program continues with its definition of academic advising with the goals of the advisor by stating that the advisor serves as the facilitator of communication. In essence, the advisor becomes the coordinator of the student's learning experiences through course and career planning and academic progress review. The advisor becomes the agent of referral to other campus agencies as necessary. Thus, the student, as well as the advisor, plays an integral role in the delicate process of retention.

Even with this consensus about the need for academic advising, some questions about the delivery of such advising is still evident because of the variances in defining it. Operationally, academic advising is defined by some educational institutions as admissions, financial aid, and enrollment in courses, while other institutions view academic advising as relaying information to students about degree requirements, course eligibility, and course sequencing. Still, some educational entities define academic advising more holistically by including everything that affects students' learning (Jordan, 2003). With the differences in defining academic advising, it is still seen as imperative for colleges and universities to determine the method for and the implementation of adequate student advising in order to retain their students.

While there is general consensus that good academic advising is an important factor in student success (Railsback & Colby, 1988) and that student retention is positively related to contact with faculty (Pascarella & Terenzini, 1991; Bean & Eaton, 2000; Tinto, 1975), there is little knowledge on the amount or type of effect on student retention, student enhancement, student attrition, or overall student success. According to Metzner (1989), only spotty evidence seems to exist in the area of academic advising; however, where there is evidence, it supports the notion that retention is enhanced by advising. Many colleges across the country are attempting to improve student success by requiring students to meet with an academic advisor on a regular basis. It is with this type of early meetings between first year students and an advisor that the effectiveness of advising is seen, and it is further enhanced when academic advising becomes an integral part of the educational process. This is evident across the nation with the growing number of colleges instituting a freshman advising program (Tinto, 1993). Likewise, effective advising can meet both the students' needs and the needs of the institution (Railsback & Colby, 1988) because solid, positive contact between faculty and students in an advising

system promotes student satisfaction with the college experience and this can encourage them to remain in college long enough to fulfill their educational goals. This type of advisement requires student involvement at the community college level, and according to a study performed in 2003, this participation includes receiving on-going academic assistance (Chaves, 2003). Therefore, research must examine the effectiveness of faculty advisement as a developmental process used to keep students in the system and to assist them in creating and achieving lifetime goals because student success means success for everyone: students, institutions, and communities.

Academic advising, like college student retention, is an elusive and chameleon-like phenomenon. Academic advising is tied to the concept of academic integration, as prescribed by Tinto (1975, 1993), but how this is achieved changes from institution to institution. In the past, there has been a folklore surrounding retention with its connections with academic ability (Bean, 2005). Academic performance is normally measured by class rank, test scores, or grade point average. Even so, college students can leave voluntarily or involuntarily because of grades and a connection to or lack of a connection to faculty members. Thus, academic advising is closely tied to faculty and staff members because these staff persons can reinforce the students' perceptions of selves at and with the college (Bean, 2005). Bean continues by adding that this concept of academic advising is an area that lacks in evidence of support for the idea of retention increasing with advising; however, Metzner (1989) does show data that supports the idea that advising helps with retention.

In addition to this support that academic advising does help with the retention of college students, the person who does the advising seems to be irrelevant. Bean (2005) wrote that academic advising needs to be provided at the collegiate level and it needs to be done well so that students recognize their own respective abilities and make well-informed academic decisions (Bean, 2005). In summary, the academic advising theme expressed at colleges around the nation is that students have academic records when they enter college, they mix these academic talents with faculty and other staff members, such as counselors, office staff, and students, to form relationships, and this, in turn, assists students in forming and maintaining attitudes that education, and particularly their respective educations, is of importance and of value to each of them. With these connections to the academic institution, students then develop an internal locus of control over academic courses and professional goals, and they get better grades and feel more loyalty to their institutions (Bean, 2005). These same college students choose to continue enrollment; thus, retention is achieved with success for each student.

This internal locus that individual colleges can work to acquire is fundamental to the agricultural education field. The roles of faculty of everchanging, and student advising is an important component for a balanced program and has become increasingly a function of the faculty (Myers & Dyer, 2005, p. 35). Continued in this study is the research in the attitudes and values of university faculty and administrators for advising as well as the preparation for these faculty and administrators to perform academic advising. Myers and Dyer (2005) determined in this study that faculty perceived advising as a part of teaching and indicated that academic advising should become a component for tenure and promotion.

Community Colleges

Community colleges are centers of educational opportunity that were created over one hundred years ago in America. They bring higher education to everyone who desires to learn, and they are close to home. According to the American Association of Community Colleges (AACC) (2006) and using data from the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) (2007), also called the Institute of Education Sciences within the Department of Education, there are a total of 1,186 community colleges in America, with 986 public institutions, 171 independent institutions, and 29 tribal institutions. With this many community colleges in the country, it is not surprising that there are 11.6 millions students enrolled in these colleges, with 40% enrolled full-time and 60% enrolled parttime. These percentages constitute 45% of all undergraduate and 45% of all first-time freshmen in the United States. The gender breakdown of these numbers is 59% female and 41% male, and the enrollment status breakdown of these numbers is 62% part-time and 38% full-time. The AACC also reports that the average age of community college students today is 29 years. Community colleges have long worked to distinguish themselves as institutions that put the students first, with the primary emphasis on teaching and learning.

Navarro College

These educational goals are important to students, staff, faculty, and administrators at a small community college in central Texas. Navarro College is a community college located in Corsicana, Texas, and has served students from this area and around that state since 1946, when a group of local citizens began working together to create a junior college. The first classes were held in September of that year, and the college has grown from the original 238 students on one campus in that fall to over six thousand students on four campuses beginning in the Fall 2006 (*Navarro: Since 1946*, 2006).

College administrators and faculty members strive to maintain a stimulating and culturally diverse environment that encourages and enhances students' personal growth, integrity, and intellectual rigor. Navarro College is an open-door, public, comprehensive community college that serves the educational needs of Navarro, Ellis, Limestone, Freestone, and Leon Counties and attracts students from across the state, the country, and the world, with students from fifty-two counties. Currently, the largest mission for community colleges is to build community. One way in which the community college does this is by remaining overtly student centered with the goal being to retain the students. Navarro College strives to create this academic advising environment for the students at all the campuses to enhance the educational experience there.

In serving these college students, Navarro College works to provide a high standard of teaching excellence and a firm commitment to each student as he or she embarks and succeeds with an academic career. In doing this, Navarro College has a highly qualified staff of professional counselors and faculty advisors to assist students in making sound educational and career choices by selecting courses, adjusting to college life, understanding transfer requirements, improving study skills, and experiencing personal and social students in integrating into the college environment, both academically and socially.

The Faculty-Centered Student Advisement Program

As part of Navarro College's long range vision on meeting student needs, the Faculty-Centered Student Advisement Program (FCSAP) was designed by the Counseling Services and was implemented college-wide in the fall of 2003. Navarro College implemented the program in the fall of 2003 with three broad, comprehensive goals to include:

- "To enhance the first year college experience of Navarro College students in order to promote student success and student learning;
- 2. To implement a faculty-centered student advisement program to assist students in the completion of their academic/career goals; and
- To promote contact between students and college professionals, particularly faculty" (*Navarro College Quality Enhancement Plan*, 2006, p. 15).

The academic advisors, comprised of both faculty and staff members, work closely with the students to help ensure that students are meeting their individual goals. This contact can be through electronic mail, telephone conversations, or personal contact. This program is implemented in stages and currently is focusing on first-time, full-time students. Faculty and staff serving as academic advisors received training and assistance as they began their work as academic advisors; these academic advisors have been surveyed, and selected members serve on a focus group, which meets regularly to assist in troubleshooting and in deciding future training needs based on the surveys.

In addition, this long-range vision of the college to improve student persistence became, in effect, the *Quality Enhancement Plan* (QEP) at Navarro College, and the Board of Trustees, along with the College President and his leadership team, have placed certain key elements of the college's mission at the forefront of importance as an open door institution: "Commitment to persistence, student integration and student learning" are the key elements, according to K. Martin, Vice President for Student Services at Navarro College (personal communication, February 8, 2006). Martin continued by adding that the Faculty-Centered Student Advisement Program allows students the opportunity to interact and to develop a special relationship with faculty outside the classroom as a means of impacting student learning and student success.

The notions to enhance, to implement and to promote each student's experiences at college and especially during the first year of college is expounded in the college's QEP as a fundamental belief of the college. The college believes in the outcome of research which states that the more students are involved in the social and intellectual life of the college and the more frequently they make contact with faculty and other students about learning issues especially outside of class, the more students are likely to learn. Providing resources for academic goals and providing resources for campus learning are two areas that enhance student retention, and it is within the *Quality Enhancement Plan* that Navarro College promotes student success through retention. By providing a faculty or staff member from the college to serve as an academic advisor to all first-time, full-time students and allowing that number to grow to include all students by 2010, the college is working to create just this atmosphere of student involvement and support for learners through active/collaborative learning and student-faculty interaction.

A brief outline of Navarro College's FCSAP begins at the beginning of each semester. At that time, students are assigned faculty advisors based on as many of the following criteria as can be maneuvered for the individual students based upon student major, class schedule, and campus most attended. Faculty are trained, if necessary, and apprised of updates to the advising program during the convocation sessions and through a special training session available throughout the year (K. Martin, personal communication, February 8, 2006). Initially, the program assigned only first-time, full-time students; however, a series of stages have been designed and implemented to incorporate further development of recurring full-time students and part-time students as well. Periodic review of institutional data and other forms of assessment related to the success of the students have been and will continue to be used to determine the progression of these developmental stages of this advising program.

Conceptual Framework of the Study

The conceptual framework for this study is depicted in Figure 1, and it is based on the assumption that providing the five determined benchmarks through a quality enhancement plan focused on providing resources to students for academic goals and campus learning can result in quality advising, thus leading to retention and to success for both the student and the institution.



Figure 1. Framework for the Study

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

The benchmarks of this study, the selection of respondents, the type of instrumentation, the validity and reliability, and the data collection and analysis are described in this chapter.

For the objective of the study, academic advising is defined as the process to assist students in the development of a plan to achieve educational goals that further clarify their personal life and career goals, and student retention is defined as a student leaving the institution after achieving the desired, personal goal. These two components are examined in determining the effects of a faculty-centered student advisement program's success in the overall retention of students at a rural community college.

Benchmarks of the Study

A set of five benchmarks serves as the grounding factors of effective educational practice in community colleges. These benchmarks included active/collaborative learning, student effort, academic challenge, student-faculty interaction, and support for learners. In addition, these five benchmarks encompassed the 38 engagement questions on the CCSSE survey, and they reflected many aspects of importance for students as they work to create an exceptional education experience.

Active/collaborative learning, as used in this study, involves students being actively engaged in their respective learning. Research has supported the fact that students learn more when they are actively involved in the learning process. According to CCSSE, students should be given opportunities to think about and apply what they are learning through simulated experiences in the classroom. In addition, collaborative learning can and should involve working with others, albeit it could be other students, faculty members, community leaders, or business owners, to solve problems. Students can learn and develop valuable skills that can enhance in preparing them for situations they may encounter once in the workplace. Seven survey items pertained to this benchmark.

Student effort was identified as the second benchmark in this study, and it pertains to the behavior of the student himself as the behavior contributes to or diminishes from the student's learning. Students' individual behavior is an indicator to the likelihood that that student is on task and will successfully attain his educational goal. Time spent on a task, the setting where one works on a task, and the preparedness for the task are all components of the student effort benchmark, and eight survey items pertained to this benchmark.

The third benchmark studied was academic challenge. Creativity and intellectual growth are important components in educational and collegiate development. They are central to the overall development of the student. Ten items on the survey corresponded to this benchmark, and they included such items as: expectations, theory, experience, judgment, values, textbooks, and writing. Student-faculty interaction was the fourth benchmark discussed from this study, and it entails the actual contact made between students and their teachers. It is revealed through Tinto (1975) and others that, the more contact made between students and faculty members, the more likely the students are to persist and to learn more effectively. In addition, students' personal interaction with faculty further strengthens the students' connectedness to the institution thus creating a stronger bond between the student and the institution. This is not limited to classroom connections. It can also include working on a committee with faculty members. Six items on the survey instrument were concerned with this benchmark.

The fifth and final benchmark in this study dealt with support for learners. The concept behind this benchmark is the more support that the students feel from the college, from academic and career planning to nonacademic responsibilities, the more committed the student is to his or her own success. Seven survey items corresponded to this benchmark.

Type of Research

The research design of this study was descriptive and correlational in nature. The study was designed to examine the disaggregated and expanded results of a national survey which is administered to provide information on learning-centered indicators of quality for community colleges. The researchbased survey was a tool with multiple implications, such as: examining results based on five identified benchmarks, identifying areas in which a college can enhance students' educational experiences, documenting institutional effectiveness for improving over time, and demonstrating institutional results in implementing good educational practices which lead to student retention.

The theoretical framework for this study was based on Tinto's Retention Model (1975). This model is considered to be "the greatest progress in solving the puzzle of student departure" (Seidman, 2005, p. 83), and testing this paradigmatic theory has resulted in a far deeper understanding of attrition and retention.

The study had the five benchmarks which form the five dependent variables and four independent variables, including the personal characteristics of age, gender, ethnicity, and enrollment status. Their relationships, independently, with the five benchmarks of the survey were analyzed.

Due to the sensitivity of human research, even in aggregate form, Texas A&M University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval was needed to begin the analysis of the data from the surveys. IRB approval was requested for use of the survey and was granted on October 13, 2006, (Appendix A). Permission from Navarro College to use the data from this survey was requested and granted on August 21, 2006, (Appendix B), from the Dean of Enrollment Management. In addition, *The Community College Student Report* is copyrighted, and CCSSE requires written permission, also. CCSSE approval was requested for use of the survey data and was granted on January 8, 2007, (Appendix C).

Population and Sample

The population for this study was selected by choosing classes during two separate years. Navarro College, as part of a national cohort organized by CCSSE, a center housed at The University of Texas in Austin, is a member of the small-sized college consortium within this cohort. The first set of data was collected in the spring of 2004, and the second set was collected during the spring 2006 semester. On both occasions, credit classes were selected by CCSSE administrators using a stratified random sampling, with the stratification being the time of the class, for example morning, afternoon, and evening. The population profile of the students in the research was based on gender, race and ethnicity, student age, and enrollment status (part- or full-time).

Sampling was created by CCSSE in order to provide sampling representation within each participating institution. Using the stratified random cluster sample created a sampling scheme in which each class that was selected and completed in the survey became a cluster. One disadvantage found when using cluster sampling was an increase in standard error. However, this was offset by collecting larger amounts of data. In addition, since the surveys were administered within classrooms, the clusters were automated.

The administration of the survey was conducted during regularly scheduled class times and was not announced prior to the class. The faculty members within the selected classes were presented a script that they were instructed to read to the class prior to giving the survey. The script instructed the students to complete all the items, and it asked the faculty member to remind the students that this survey was about their personal, collegiate experiences only where the survey was being administered, and the students were asked to complete the survey a second or third time even if they had it administered in another class.

In the 2004 CCSSE cohort samples, the total number of students submitting usable surveys was 804, with 40% male and 60% female; this, likewise, resembled the full population of community college students in the CCSSE cohort of 41% male and 59% female. The second component of student respondents was age; the range in the ages of students submitting usable surveys was 18 to 65 years, while approximately 89% of the students in the research were between the ages of 18 and 39, with 64% of those between the ages of 18 and 24 and 25% between 25 and 39 years old. The racial identification of the students was the next stratifying in which 52.2% of students in the research identified themselves as White/non-Hispanic, 13% were Hispanic/Latino/ Spanish, 10% were Black or African American, 4% were Asian, and 2% were identified as Native American. This was the racial breakdown to the question: "What is your racial identification?" Some of the students identified themselves as international or foreign national, and approximately 6% of the students answered "yes" to the international identification question. Additional information about these specifics for our study will be identified with the totals for Navarro College in Chapter IV.

The parallel percentages for Navarro College as they pertain to the same personal characteristics follow: Gender division was 41% male and 59%

female; Ethnicity division was 64% White/non-Hispanic, 19% Black or African American, 9% Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish, 7% International Student or Foreign National, 1% Asian, and 0% Native American or Other. The ages of the students participating in the study at Navarro College included the following: 86% were between the ages of 18 and 39, with 39% between 18 and 19 years of age and 37% between 20 and 24 years of age. In 2004, the enrollment status of the Navarro College students was broken into 57% fulltime and 43% part-time.

In the 2006 CCSSE cohort sample, the total number of students submitting usable surveys was 780, with 40% male and 60% female; this, likewise, resembled the full population of community college students in the CCSSE cohort of 41% male and 59% female.

The second component of student respondents was age; approximately 90% of the students in the research were between the ages of 18 and 39, with 65% of those between the ages of 18 and 24 and 24% between 25 and 39. The racial identification of the students was the next stratifying marking, and 65% of students in the research identified themselves as White/non-Hispanic, 9% were Hispanic/Latino/Spanish, 11% were Black or African American, 3% were Asian, and 2% were identified as Native American. Some of the students identified themselves as an international student or foreign national; these specifics for our study will be identified with the totals for Navarro College.

The final identifying marking for the students participating in this study on the consortium level is the enrollment status of each of the students. The students fall into two categories: full-time or part-time. The student respondents in this study at the college consortium level reported that 69% were full-time and 31% were part-time. It was noted that this is an inverse sampling representation and is attributed as a result of the sampling technique and the inclass administration process. For this reason, survey results were disaggregated on the full-time/part-time variable so that reports more accurately reflect the underlying student population.

The parallel percentages in 2006 for Navarro College as they pertain to the same personal characteristics follow: Gender division was 37% male and 63% female; Ethnicity division was 65% White/non-Hispanic, 20% Black or African American, 10% Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish, 4% International Student or Foreign National, 1% Asian, and 0% Native American or Other. The ages of the students participating in the study at Navarro College included the following: 89% were between the ages of 18 and 39, with 37% between 18 and 19 years of age and 18% between 20 and 24 years of age. The enrollment status of the Navarro College students was broken into 54% full-time and 46% parttime.

Over the course of both years, the total number of usable surveys was 1584. And, for the analyses portion of the study, the ethnicity component was combined into four groups instead of seven as revealed on the survey, including the combination of the group American Indian or other Native American, the group of Asian, Asian American or Pacific Islander, the group of Native Hawaiian, and the group of Other, into one group of "Other."

41

Instrumentation

The CCSSE Survey of Student Engagement is called *The Community College Student Report.* It is a 38-question, likert-scale questionnaire survey (Appendix D) that is administered over a 25-50 minute session within preselected classes. The questions on the survey corresponded to the benchmarks identified as active/collaborative learning, student effort, academic challenge, student-faculty interaction, and support for learners. In addition, the 2006 CCSSE survey administered within the Navarro College cohort contained 15 additional questions submitted by cohort community colleges pertaining to academic advising; these were in likert-scale format, also. Results for these questions were available to each participating college.

CCSSE and this survey focus on student learning and retention through engagement. The survey was administered directly to students at CCSSE member colleges within classes selected randomly by CCSSE administrators. The colleges received the survey results, along with data and additional national analysis, in order to improve individual programs and services for students.

Instrument Validity/Reliability

As reported by CCSSE, the survey instrument and the constructs derived from the survey were reliable because of three phases of model development, which demonstrated validity with student's respective grade point average (GPA). The reliability was further tested in the second phase when measurement of invariance across the groups was assessed. Likewise, validity was assessed during the third phase by showing any relationship between the GPA and latent constructs (Marti, 2004). The reported results showed that the survey is appropriate for use across a variety of populations.

Reliability for the instrument was estimated by calculating a Cronbach's alpha coefficient for each benchmark. Table 1 shows reliability of each item of perceived attributes and perceptions of the five benchmarks:

active/collaborative learning, r=0.78; student effort, r=0.52; academic

challenge, r=0.80; student-faculty interaction, r=0.73; and support for learners,

r=0.77.

Table 1Reliability of Dependent Variables of the Survey

Benchmarks	r
Active/Collaborative Learning	0.78
Student Effort	0.52
Academic Challenge	0.80
Student-Faculty Interaction	0.73
Support for Learners	0.77
Note: <i>M</i> =2.26; <i>SD</i> =0.49	

Results indicated that the benchmarks were closely tied to one another; however, since the survey itself is primarily concerned with student engagement, this is expected. Therefore, the questions within each benchmark were also correlated to seek information about that one area. The reliability coefficient (Cronbach's alpha) showed that the instrument is reliable; however, some concerns exist regarding the reliability of benchmark two, student effort, because of its low value.

CHAPTER IV

ANALYSIS OF DATA

This chapter presents the findings by objective. Personal characteristic responses were described, the findings related to each of the nine objectives for the two years were summarized, and a comparison of survey respondents from 2004 and 2006 was provided. For the purpose of this study, raw data from each year that the Community College Survey of Student Engagement (CCSSE) at The University of Texas at Austin (Appendix D) *The Community College Student Report* (Spring 2004 and Spring 2006), which was administered at Navarro College, was used with permission from each entity.

Personal Characteristics of Participants

Students enrolled in a small-sized community college in central Texas were the target population for the study, sampling over a two year period. Over 6000 students are enrolled in classes on one of the three Navarro College campuses, and the classes themselves were randomly selected by CCSSE. These students were categorized based upon age, gender, ethnicity, and enrollment status, and these personal characteristics form the independent variables of the study. Table 2 shows the breakdown of the ages of students enrolled at Navarro College who participated in the survey during the two Spring semesters that the survey was administered.

	-		-		_		-							
Year	18	8-19	2	0-21	2	2-24	2	5-29	30)-39	40)-49	50	-64
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
2004	307	39	197	25	95	12	71	9	78	10	32	4	16	2
2006	294	40	176	24	81	11	66	9	66	9	37	5	15	2
Note: A	/=1584													

Table 2Percentage Breakdown of Participants' Ages

This shows that the majority of the students enrolled at Navarro College fell into the traditional-aged student of 18-24 years of age (76%) in the year 2004 and that number remained fairly constant in 2006, with 75% of the students falling between 18-24 years of age.

Likewise, Table 3 shows the percentage breakdown of student

participants' gender according to each year.

Table 3Percentage Breakdown of Students by Gender

Year		Male		Female
	f	%	f	%
2004	231	40	370	60
2006	346	40	556	60
Both		577		926

Note: *N*=1584

This was the one area that seems to stay the most consistent across the two-year span of administering the CCSSE survey to the NC students and with the numbers reported for the consortium and for the cohort.

Table 4 shows the percentage breakdown of the ethnicity of the students participating with usable surveys according to the two years, 2004 and 2006.

Year	White	e/	Hisp	oanic/	nic/ Black or		Asian,		American		Other	
	Non-		Lati	atino/ African		can	Asian		Indian or			
	Hispa	anic	Spar	nish	American		American,		Other			
	-		-				or Pacific		Native			
							Islander		American			
	F	%	f	%	f	%	F	%	f	%	f	%
2004	419	61.0	91	13.0	217	10.0	22	4.0	5	0.2	33	6.0
2006	408	64.0	96	9.0	172	19.0	18	4.5	16	1.6	24	7.0
Both	827	54.3	187	12.3	389	25.6	40	4.5	21	1.4	57	3.7
Note	$N = 15^{\circ}$	22										

Table 4Percentage Breakdown of Students According to Ethnicity

Note: *N*=1522

This table does not include the ethnic status of international or foreign national. The total number of students indicating on the survey that they were of international origin was 54 of the total 1584 students completing the survey. This is interesting to note and is seen in Table 5.

Table 5International Students Completing the Survey in 2004 and 2006

Year	Interna	ational or
	Foreig	n National
	f	%
2004	78	57.4
2006	62	45.6
Both	136	

Note: *N*=1526

It is noted here that, with the inclusion of asking about race and about internationalism, the strength of the survey is greater. Through this data, we showed that the international students at Navarro College are reflected in the data. This was further addressed within benchmark three, academic challenge.

And, the final table, related to the personal characteristics of the two survey-sampling student groups, shows the breakdown of the enrollment status of the students participating in the survey in the years 2004 and 2006. The enrollment status of the community college student was divided into part-time enrollment and full-time enrollment, with a full-time status being reached at 12college hours. Table 6 shows this breakdown and includes the percentages for the small-college consortium in which Navarro College fell within the CCSSE cohort study group:

Table 6 Breakdown of Students According to Enrollment Status

Year	Full-Time		Part-Time	
	f	%	f	%
NC 2004	1045	66	537	34
NC 2006	903	57	681	43
Consortium 2004	570	36	1014	64
Consortium 2006	618	39	966	61
Note: $N-1584$				

Note: N = 1584

This shows an inverse representation and is the result of the random inclass sampling technique used by CCSSE within the consortium and the cohort colleges for both years. Because of the in-class administration of the CCSSE survey by faculty members, the survey results were disaggregated or weighted on the full-time/part-time variable so that the reporting system will reflect more accurately the student population. However, for the purpose of this study, the raw data from 2004 and the raw data from 2006 were gathered and used in running the analyses. The centralized data from 2006 would not match cleanly

with the 2004, therefore, the raw data from both administrations of the survey was gathered from CCSSE, and the analyses were run from that information.

This table also shows that, for Navarro College, more students were enrolled on a part-time basis. Table 7 shows the enrollment breakdown from the two surveying years.

Table 7

Total Enrollment Breakdown for Navarro College from 2004 and 2006

Enrollment Status	f	%
Part-Time	266	16.8
Full-Time	1305	82.4
Missing	13	00.8
Total	1584	100.0

Note: N=1584; M=2.26; SD=0.54

The enrollment status for the combined years follows the same pattern as exhibited throughout the same-sized colleges within the cohort.

Findings Related to Each of the Eight Objectives

The first five objectives of the study relate to the five benchmarks of the study as they are relative to student perception and revealed in the CCSSE survey; they include the following: active/collaborative learning, student effort, academic challenge, student-faculty interaction, and support for learners. The next objective, objective six, examines the participants' perceptions and each benchmark and the relationships that exist between the two years of data collection and then the personal characteristics and the benchmarks. The seventh and eighth objectives describe the faculty-centered student advisement

program implemented at Navarro College to address this issue and its means and impacts on student teaching, learning, and retention.

Objective One

The first objective was to describe the participants' perceptions of active/collaborative learning during 2004 and 2006. The premise behind this benchmark is that students learn more when they are more involved in their own education, when they interact more with one another and with the faculty member, and when they have more opportunities to apply what they are learning in different settings. This can be achieved by collaborating with others (students, faculty, staff, and community) to solve problems in ways that foster the development of skills to help them with the different types of problems and situations they will encounter in the workplace, the community, and their personal lives.

Seven questions on the CCSSE survey pertain to benchmark one or collaborative learning, with such issues as class discussion, class presentations, community-based projects, and student tutoring being addressed. Table 6 shows the frequencies and percentages of answers for each of the seven questions on the survey that correspond to benchmark one, active/collaborative learning. The results, as seen in Table 8, indicate that the average mean level for all seven questions for Navarro College in 2006 (M=2.04) is consistent with the national level of the cohort.

Table 8

Frequency Table for Benchmark One, Active/Collaborative Learning for 2004 and 2006

Benchmark 1	Never	ſ	Some	etimes	Often		Very Often
Collaborative/Active			f	%			f %
Learning	f	%	v		F	%	v
Asked questions in	40	2.5	589	37.2	578	36.5	369 23.3
class or contributed to							
class discussions							
Made a class	342	21.6	698	44.1	394	24.9	137 8.6
presentation							
Worked with other	188	11.9	692	43.7	496	31.3	179 11.3
students on projects							
during class							
Worked with	570	36.0	624	39.4	255	16.1	116 7.3
classmates outside of							
class to prepare class							
assignments							
Tutored or taught	1041	65.7	378	23.9	100	6.3	52 3.3
other students (paid or							
voluntary)							
Participated in a	1184	74.7	281	17.7	84	5.3	17 1.1
community-based							
project as a part of a							
regular course	• • • •					• • •	
Discussed ideas from	208	13.1	600	37.9	475	30.0	282 17.8
your readings or							
classes with others							
outside of class							
(students, family							
members, co-workers,							
etc.)	• ~			· -			
Note: Scale: 1=Never;	2=Som	etimes	; 3=Of	ten; 4='	Very Of	ten	

M=2.04

This reveals interesting facts about the Navarro College students and their collaborative learning activities. One area that shows the students participating in their learning is in classroom discussions both inside and outside the classroom, with a large majority of the students (59.8%) answering that they contributed to class discussion and then they further discussed the ideas from class readings and class discussions outside of class (47.8%) at the "often" and "very often" level.

The average means for the seven questions relating to benchmark 1 are shown in Table 9, and these show that, from 2004 and 2006, the perceived participation in active/collaborative learning on the part of Navarro College students remains constant. And, in the area of working with students on projects during class has the largest increase from 2004 (M=2.33) to 2006 (M=2.40).

Table 9

Benchmark One	2004	2004	2006	2006	3-Year
Collaborative-Active	NC	Consortium	NC	Consortium	Cohort
Learning	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean
Asked questions in	2.85	2.80	2.77	2.84	2.90
class or contributed to					
class discussions					
Made a class	2.11	1.95	2.07	1.99	2.02
presentation					
Worked with other	2.33	2.44	2.40	2.43	2.45
students on projects					
during class					
Worked with	1.84	1.91	1.85	1.94	1.85
classmates outside of					
class to prepare class					
assignments					
Tutored or taught	1.41	1.43	1.42	1.45	1.37
other students (paid or					
voluntary)					
Participated in a	1.28	1.30	1.29	1.34	1.28
community-based					
project as a part of a					
regular course					
Discussed ideas from	2.50	2.55	2.48	2.53	2.55
your readings or					
classes with others					
outside of class					
(students, family					
members, co-workers,					
etc.)					

Average Means for Navarro College for Benchmark One, Collaborative/Active Learning for 2004 and 2006

Note: Scale: 1=Never; 2=Sometimes; 3=Often; 4=Very Often M= 2.10; SD=0.49

Further, this shows that an improvement was seen in the perception of Navarro College participants in the amount of collaborative/active learning that they were experiencing within their classes from 2004 to 2006. This is discussed further in the Objective six discussions. In addition, it shows that an improvement was being seen across the three levels of the study with an increase in the average mean seen at a single institution, at the consortium level, and at the entire cohort level.

Objective Two

Objective two was to describe the participants' perceptions of student effort during 2004 and 2006. Student effort deals with the students' own behaviors and how they contribute significantly to their learning and to their success in attaining their respective educational goals. The questions which pertained to this objective dealt with the amount of work the student performed outside the basic requirements, but on his own initiative, such as preparing two or more drafts of a paper before submitting it, preparing for class by studying, doing homework, and reading, and reading books as outside reading on their own. Table 10 shows the breakdown of answers for each of the eight questions on the survey that correspond with benchmark two or student effort.

Benchmark Two	Neve	Never		times	Ofte	n	Very	
Student Effort							Offer	1
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Prepared two or more	260	16.4	485	30.6	520	32.8	297	18.8
drafts of a paper								
or assignment before								
turning it in								
Worked on a paper or	129	8.1	501	31.6	610	38.5	329	20.8
project that								
required integrating ideas								
or information								
from various sources								
Came to class without	403	25.4	862	54.4	204	12.9	88	5.6
completing								
readings or assignments								
Number of books read on	458	28.9	755	47.7	209	13.2	75	4.7
your own								
(not assigned) for								
personal enjoyment or								
academic enrichment								
Note: Scale: 1=Never; 2=	Some	times;	3=Ofte	en; 4=V	ery O	ften		

Table 10Frequency Table for Benchmark Two, Student Effort for 2004 and 2006

Note: Scale: 1-Never, 2-Sometimes, 3-Often, 4-Very Often M=2.04

The fifth question within this grouping of questions relating to benchmark two, student effort was scaled differently; therefore, it had been pulled and placed in Table 11. This question had to do with the number of hours the Navarro College students reported that they spent preparing for class in a typical class week of seven days. As reported in the table, a majority of Navarro College students (73.3%) spent, on average, less than ten hours a week preparing for class.

Table 11

Benchmark Two Student Effort Frequency Table Reflecting Hours Preparing for Classes for 2004 and 2006

Benchmark	Never		1-5 Hours		6-1	6-10		11-20 Hours		21-30 Hours		r 30
TWO			пои	IIS	по	urs	поц	rs	пош	ſS	пои	rs
Student												
Effort	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Preparing	41	2.6	704	44.4	45	8 28.9	225	14.2	86	5.4	50	3.2
for class												

Scale: 1=Never; 2=1-5 Hours; 3=6-10 Hours; 4=11-20 Hours; 5=21-30 Hours; 6=Over 30 Hours

At the same time, this table shows that a large majority of Navarro College students (43.1%) were studying and preparing for class and examinations, with 28.9% reporting that they prepare 6-10 hours and 14.2% reporting 11-20 hours of weekly preparation.

The next table, Table 12, shows the frequencies for the final three questions that relate to benchmark two student effort. The scaling was somewhat different therefore it has been separated. This table shows the frequency that the Navarro College students reported that they were satisfied with different services provided by the college, including participating in tutoring, attending skills labs, or frequenting computer labs.

Table 12

Benchmark Two Student Effort	N.A.		Rarely Never	1/	Some	times	Often	
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Frequency: Peer or other tutoring	397	25.1	710	44.8	294	18.6	102	6.4
Frequency: Skill labs (writing, math, etc.	247	15.6	436	27.5	451	28.5	367	23.2
Frequency: Computer lab	103	6.5	271	17.1	447	28.2	671	42.4

Benchmark Two, Student Effort Frequency Table About Using Tutorial Labs for 2004 and 2006

Scale: 0=N.A.; 1=Rarely/Never; 2=Sometimes; 3=Often

This table shows a quarter (25.0%) of the Navarro College students, over the two year survey period, likewise, participated in tutoring services provided by Navarro College. Over half of the Navarro College students (51.7%) reported using the tutoring services "sometimes" (28.5%) and "often" (23.2%) use the skills labs provided by the college; these types of labs include writing labs and math skills labs. And, finally, this table shows that a significantly large amount of Navarro College students (70.6%) reported that they use "sometimes" (28.2%) and "often" (42.4%) the computer labs on the Navarro College campuses.

The results, as seen in Table 13, indicate that Navarro College is significantly above the average mean level for all eight questions in 2006 (M=2.04).

Table 13

Average Means for Navarro College for Benchmark Two, Student Effort for 2004 and 2006

Benchmark Two Student Effort	2004 NC Mean	2004 Consortium Colleges	2006 NC Mean	2006 Consortium Colleges Moon	3-Year Cohort Colleges
Prepared two or more	2 46	2 36	2 40	2 36	2 47
drafts of a paper	2.10	2.50	2.10	2.50	2.17
Or assignment before					
turning it in					
Worked on a paper or	2.67	2.55	2.58	2.57	2.68
project that					
required integrating					
ideas or information					
from various sources					
Came to class without	1.95	1.91	1.94	1.89	1.89
completing					
Readings or					
assignments					
Number of books read	2.05	1.99	2.17	2.00	2.08
on your own					
(not assigned) for					
personal enjoyment or					
Dranaring for alage	1 70	1 76	1 75	1 07	1 00
(studying reading	1.70	1.70	1.75	1.62	1.00
writing rehearsing					
doing homework or					
other activities related					
to your program)					
Frequency: Peer or	1.38	1.48	1.44	1.50	1.45
other tutoring					
Frequency: Skill labs	1.88	1.81	1.94	1.82	1.71
(writing,					
math, etc.					
Frequency: Computer	2.16	2.09	2.24	2.11	2.09
lab					
Note: Scale: 1=Never; 2=Sometimes; 3=Often; 4=Very Often; or					

1=Never.; 2=Between 1 and 4; 3=Between 5 and 10; 4=Between 11 and 20; 5=More than 20; or 0=N.A.; 1=Rarely/Never; 2=Sometimes; 3=Often *M*=2.04; *p*<.001
This shows that Navarro College students increased the individual participation in several areas of student effort from 2004 to 2006 which is after the implementation of the faculty-centered student advisement program. These areas included the following: the number of books that the students read on their own for personal enjoyment and/or enrichment, the number of times to seek peer or other tutoring, the amount of time in labs, such as writing or math, and the amount of time spent in a computer lab. This table also shows that Navarro College (M=1.94) was significantly above the consortium (M=1.82) and the cohort (M=1.71) in the area of students attending skills labs, such as writing labs or math labs, to receive additional help. In addition, Navarro College excels in the areas covered by benchmark two or student effort. Table 14 shows the mean averages for the eight items in the survey that correspond with this benchmark.

Table 14Average Means for Benchmark Two for 2006 (N=1584)

Benchmark Two	NC Average	Consortium Average	Cohort Average Moon	
Student Effort	2.06	2.00	2.03	
Note: <i>M</i> =2.04; <i>p</i> <.001				

Objective Three

This objective describes participants' perceptions of academic challenge during 2004 and 2006. The need to be challenged in the collegiate classroom has never been as needed as it is today, and the term academic challenge is seen in the growth by the student both creatively and intellectually. Ten items from the CCSSE survey corresponded to academic challenge. Some of the items on the survey that comprise this section include the following: synthesizing and organizing ideas in new ways, applying theories and concepts in new ways, and being encouraged to spend more time on school work. In addition, these survey questions addressed the academic work assigned, the complexity of that work, and the standards with which the work was evaluated.

Table 15 is a frequency table for the answers for each of the ten questions on the survey that corresponded with benchmark three or academic challenge.

Benchmark Three	Very	/	Some	;	Quit	e a	Very	
Academic Challenge	Littl	e			Bit		Much	1
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Worked harder than you	14	9.2	638	40.3	545	34.4	231	14.6
thought you could to								
meet an instructor's								
standards or expectations								
Analyzing the basic	112	7.1	545	34.4	628	39.6	285	18.0
elements of an idea,								
experience, or theory								
Synthesizing and	136	8.6	574	36.2	577	36.4	277	17.5
organizing ideas,								
information, or								
experiences in new ways								
Making judgments about	215	13.6	583	36.8	523	33.0	243	15.3
the value or soundness of								
information, arguments,								
or methods								
Applying theories or	211	13.3	576	36.4	538	34.0	247	15.6
concepts to practical								
problems or in new								
situations								
Using information you	159	10.0	543	34.3	554	35.0	321	20.3
have read or heard to								
perform a new skill								
Encouraging you to	89	5.6	376	23.7	648	40.9	458	28.9
spend significant								
amounts of time studying								
		-						

Frequency Table for Benchmark Three, Academic Challenge for 2004 and 2006

Table 15

Note: Scale: 1=Very little; 2=Some; 3=Quite a bit; 4=Very Much M=2.90; p<.001

This shows that Navarro College students did report feeling academically challenged, with 100% of the students feeling from "very little" to "very much" challenged. This was more closely examined with the overall average mean for benchmark three academic challenge for the two year study period for the third column "quite a bit" reporting 36.2% of the students reported being challenged at that level and with the fourth column of this table reporting that 18.6% of the students feeling challenged at the "very much" level. This combined average mean shows that over half of the students (54.8%) surveyed reported that they were academically challenged at a "quite a bit" to "very much" level.

Three more survey questions are included in benchmark three, academic challenge. The first two questions dealt with the amount of reading a student does during the semester, both assigned and independently. Table 16 shows the frequencies at which the students replied to these two questions for 2004 and 2006. And, the third survey item pertained to the extent examinations through the semester have challenged the student; the results of this survey question follow this table in Table 17.

Table 16

Benchmark	None	e	Betv	veen	Betv	veen	Betv	veen	More	e than
Three			1 an	d 4	5 an	d 10	11 a	nd 20	20	
Academic										
Challenge	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Number of	42	2.7	576	36.4	560	35.4	248	15.7	145	9.2
assigned										
textbooks,										
manuals, books,										
or book-length										
packs of course										
readings										
Number of	104	6.6	497	31.4	533	33.6	298	18.8	134	8.5
written papers or	10.	0.0		0111	000	0010	_/ 0	1010	10.	0.0
reports of any										
length										
Note: $M-2.90$										
Note: $M=2.90$	Dates		and 1	. 2 D.	4	5 and	10.			
Scale: 1=Never; 4	2=Betv	veen I	and 4	; 5 =Be	tween	5 and	10;			

Frequency Table for Benchmark Three, Academic Challenge for the Number of Books Read and Papers Written for 2004 and 2006

Scale: 1=Never; 2=Between 1 and 4; 3=Between 5 and 10 4=Between 11 and 20; 5=More than 20

The third question in this grouping for benchmark three academic challenge pertained to the extent the students felt challenged on examinations at Navarro College. Table 17 shows the results of this question that asks to what extent the examinations during the current school year challenged the student to do his best work.

Table 17

Benchmark Three Academic Challenge	Extremely	Easy	Easy		Somewhat Easy		casy Somewhat Challenging		Challenging		Very Challenging	Very Challenging		0
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Mark the box that best represents the extent to which your examinations during the current school year have challenged you to do your best work at this college	13	0.8	32	2.0	87	5.5	410	25.9	504	31.8	2981	8.8	151	9.5
Scale: 1=E	ixtre	emely	y Eas	y; 2=	=Eas	y; 3=	Some	what	Easy;	4=So	mewl	nat		
Cha	allen	iging	; 5=0	Chall	lengi	ng; 6	=Ver	y Cha	illengi	ng;				
7=E	7=Extremely Challenging													

Frequency Table for Benchmark Three, Academic Challenge About Challenge of Examinations for 2004 and 2006

Note: M=2.90

This shows that, overall, the Navarro College students felt challenged (18.8%) and extremely challenged (9.5%) on the examinations. This was followed closely with a large number of students (31.8%) who reported feeling that examinations in the current year were "somewhat challenging."

Furthermore, the results, as seen in Table 18, indicate that Navarro

College fell above the average mean for nine of the ten questions in this area in

2006, with p<.001 with an effect size greater than or equal to .200.

Table 18

Average Means for Navarro College for Benchmark Three, Academic Challenge for 2004 and 2006

Benchmark Three Academic Challenge	2004 NC Mean	2004 Consortium Mean	2006 NC Mean	2006 Consortium Colleges Mean	Cohort Colleges Mean
Worked harder than you thought you could to meet an instructor's standards or expectations	2.55	2.50	2.50	2.53	2.51
Analyzing the basic elements of an idea, experience, or theory	2.66	2.79	2.64	2.77	2.80
Synthesizing and organizing ideas, information, or experiences in new ways	2.61	2.60	2.56	2.68	2.67
Making judgments about the value or soundness of information, arguments, or methods	2.49	2.48	2.43	2.51	2.51
Applying theories or concepts to practical problems or in new situations	2.47	2.54	2.46	2.61	2.60
Using information you have read or heard to perform a new skill	2.61	2.71	2.57	2.76	2.71
Number of assigned textbooks, manuals, books, or book-length packs of course readings	2.86	2.78	2.79	2.84	2.84
Number of written papers or reports of any length	2.86	2.55	2.64	2.60	2.80
Mark the box that best represents the extent to which your examinations during the current school year have challenged you to do your best work at this college	4.96	5.01	4.94	5.06	5.01
Encouraging you to spend significant amounts of time studying	2.89	2.89	2.91	2.95	2.93

Note: M=2.90; p<.001

This shows that Navarro College students were being encouraged to

spend more amounts of time studying from 2004 (M=2.89) to 2006 (M=2.91).

This is shown in Table 19.

Table 19Mean Average for Benchmark Three, Encouraging Students to Study More for2004 and 2006

Donohmanly Three	2004	2006
Benchmark Three	2004	2000
Academic Challenge	NC	NC
	Mean	Mean
Encouraging you to spend significant amounts of time studying	2.89	2.91
Note: <i>M</i> =2.90		

This shows that Navarro College remained consistent statistically from 2004 to 2006. Further comparison of benchmark three, academic challenge follows in the discussion of Objective Six.

Objective Four

Objective four describes participants' perceptions of student-faculty interaction during 2004 and 2006. Based upon the concept that the more students have contact with and interact with their teachers, the more likely those students will learn and move closer to their own educational goals, this objective shows the findings of this type of interaction. This interaction between teachers and students can lead to the faculty members becoming role models, mentors, and guides for lifelong learning. This shows that the Navarro College students felt they are interacting with faculty members through electronic mail, they are discussing ideas from class readings outside class with their teachers, and they worked on activities other than coursework with faculty members.

This objective corresponded to six questions on the CCSSE survey, and Table 20 shows the breakdown of these questions, with the mean for each question for Navarro College, for the consortium, and for the CCSSE cohort for 2006.

Table 20Benchmark Four, Student-Faculty Interaction Frequency Table

Benchmark Four	Never		Some	times	Often		Very	
Student-Faculty							Often	
Interaction	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Used email to	268	16.9	582	36.7	448	28.3	266	16.8
communicate with an								
instructor								
Discussed grades or	135	8.5	702	44.3	514	32.4	220	13.9
assignments with								
an instructor								
Talked about career plans	446	28.2	710	44.8	284	17.9	116	7.3
with an instructor or								
advisor								
Discussed ideas from your	670	42.3	628	39.6	189	11.9	74	4.7
readings or classes with								
instructors outside of class								
Received prompt feedback	150	9.5	599	37.8	596	37.6	211	13.3
(written or oral) from								
instructors on your								
performance								
Worked with instructors	1032	65.2	350	22.1	123	7.8	40	2.5
on activities other than								
coursework								
Note: Scale: 1=Never; 2=	Somet	imes; 3	B=Ofter	n; and 4	4=Ver	y Ofter	1	

This shows that at the "often" level, Navarro College students reported the most often frequency on the following questions: faculty using email to communicate with students (28.3%); faculty discussing assignments or grades with students (32.4%); and, faculty providing prompt written or oral feedback from instructors on performance (37.6%). In addition, Navarro College had some areas in which focus for increasing interaction, which the review of the literature has revealed increases retention in college students, between faculty and students can be incorporated into the faculty advisement program, as well as some of the ways faculty members have implemented as ways to connect with the students. One such area was revealed through the question that asked students if they discussed readings or classes with instructors outside of class; Navarro College students reported "never" on this particular question 42.3%. Further comparisons are following in the discussions of Objective six.

Table 21 reveals the average means for benchmark four, student-faculty interaction for 2004 and 2006 for Navarro College, for the consortium, and for the CCSSE cohort.

Benchmark Four	2004	2004	2006	2006	CCSSE
Student-Faculty	NC	Consortium	NC	Consortium	Cohort
Interaction	Mean	Colleges	Mean	Colleges	Mean
		Mean		Mean	
Used email to	2.34	2.05	2.38	2.22	2.30
communicate with an					
instructor					
Discussed grades or	2.50	2.47	2.47	2.53	2.48
assignments with					
an instructor					
Talked about career	2.00	2.00	1.97	2.05	1.98
plans with an instructor					
or advisor					
Discussed ideas from	1.75	1.73	1.70	1.78	1.71
your readings or classes					
with instructors outside					
of class					
Received prompt	2.59	2.57	2.53	2.60	2.64
feedback (written or					
oral) from instructors on					
your performance					
Worked with instructors	1.38	1.42	1.41	1.47	1.38
on activities other than					
coursework					

Table 21Benchmark Four, Student-Faculty Interaction Means for 2004 and 2006

.

Note: Scale: 1=Never; 2=Sometimes; 3=Often; 4=Very Often M=2.09; p<.001

This shows that there was a nominally significant increase in three of the six questions pertaining to this benchmark from the initial survey in 2004 to 2006. Also, this shows that, with results for 2006 data, Navarro College faculty used email to communicate with students at a more frequent amount for 2004 to 2006, and on average, more than other colleges in the consortium or the cohort. In addition in 2006, students worked with instructors on activities other than coursework nominally more at Navarro College than at colleges within the cohort, on average. Likewise, this table shows that Navarro College did not fall

significantly below the mean of the comparison group because the items listed are significant at p<.001, with an effect size greater than or equal to .200.

Objective Five

The fifth objective is to describe participants' perceptions for support for learners during 2004 and 2006. When students feel that the institution is committed to their individual successes and works to cultivate relationships with the different groups on campus, these students are more satisfied at college and are more likely to succeed because they are happy. There were seven corresponding items on the CCSSE survey for this benchmark, with questions regarding the amount of support students receive about financial assistance information, academic advising, non-academic responsibilities and providing activities for social growth included in this grouping of questions.

Table 22 shows this frequency for 2004 and 2006 with each question that pertains to this benchmark on the survey.

Benchmark Five	Very		Some	Some		Quite a		/
Support for Learners	Little				Bit		Muc	h
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Providing the support you	94	5.9	438	27.7	653	41.2	384	24.2
need to help you succeed								
at this college								
Encouraging contact	294	18.6	498	31.4	477	30.1	299	18.9
among students from								
different economic, social,								
and racial or ethnic								
backgrounds								
Helping you cope with	571	36.0	535	33.8	310	19.6	150	9.5
your non-academic								
responsibilities (work,								
family, etc).								
Providing the support you	402	25.4	618	39.0	380	24.0	155	9.8
need to thrive socially								
Providing the financial	345	21.8	397	25.1	425	26.8	398	25.1
support you need to afford								
your education								
Scale: 1=Very Little: 2=So	me: $\overline{3}$ =	Ouite a	Bit: $\overline{4}$ =	Verv N	Much			

Benchmark Five, Support for Learners Frequency Table for 2004 and 2006

Table 22

Scale: 1=Very Little; 2=Some; 3=Quite a Bit; 4=Very Much Note: *M*=2.09

This frequency table shows that the faculty at Navarro College provided support to the students at Navarro College on the scale of "quite a bit" to "very much" at a rate of 65.4% with the first five questions on the survey that relate information for benchmark five. Navarro College seemed to meet and exceed the perceived needs of students with providing financial support and/or assistance in educational expenses and the information regarding this.

Table 23 shows the frequency results for the remaining two survey questions for benchmark five. They were frequency questions.

Benchmark Five	N.A.		Rarely/		Sometin	nes	Often	
Support for			Never					
Learners	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Frequency:	136	8.6	568	35.9	661	41.7	158	10.0
Academic								
advising or								
planning								
Frequency:	245	15.5	796	50.3	389	24.6	83	5.2
Career								
planning								
		1 /2		· ·				

Table 23Benchmark Five Frequency Table Showing the Amounts of Time Academic and
Career Planning

Note: Scale: 0=N.A.; 1=Rarely/Never; 2=Sometimes; 3=Often

This shows that over half of the students (51.7%) at Navarro College received some type of academic advising or planning over the two-year survey period at a "sometime" and/or "often" level on the survey question scale.

In addition, another one-third of the students (35.9%) reported that they had received some or "rarely/never" academic advising. Even so, this was a total of 87.6% of the students randomly selected to participate in the survey reported some contact from the institution with regards to academic advising or planning. This can be seen as significant since this is just two years into the implementation process of the faculty-centered student advisement program, beginning with the first-time, full-time students and adding others over a seven year process, and the survey was administered across the campuses without regard to the student enrollment status. Therefore, full-time students who had been attending Navarro College, as well as part-time students, were part of the

data collection of the CCSSE survey. This will be further addressed in the

comparisons made in Objective six.

Table 24 shows the average means for Navarro College, the consortium,

and the cohort for benchmark five, support for learners for 2006.

Table 24Average Means of Benchmark Five, Support for Learners in 2006

Benchmark Five Support for Learners	Navarro	Consortium	CCSSE
	College	Mean	Cohort
	Mean		Mean
Providing the support you need to help	2.73	2.95	2.91
you succeed at this college			
Encouraging contact among students from	2.36	2.48	2.42
different economic, social, and racial or			
ethnic backgrounds			
Helping you cope with your non-academic	1.89	2.03	1.88
responsibilities (work, family, etc).			
Providing the support you need to thrive	2.05	2.20	2.05
socially			
Providing the financial support you need	2.50	2.43	2.35
to afford your education			
Frequency: Academic advising or	1.69	1.77	1.74
planning			
Frequency: Career counseling	1.40	1.50	1.43
Note: 1=Very little: 2=Some: 3=Ouite a bi	t· 4-Verv	much or	

Note: 1=Very little; 2=Some; 3=Quite a bit; 4=Very much; or 0=N.A.; 1=Rarely/Never; 2=Sometimes; 3=Often M=2.02, p<.001

With significance at p<.001 and with the effect size greater than or equal to 0.20, this shows that Navarro College fell below the mean of both the consortium and the cohort. This indicated that Navarro College may need to plan to create more support and/or more awareness of the support available to students in the area of providing additional support to help students succeed at the institution. This is illustrated in Table 25.

Table 25

Question	NC Mean		Consortium Colleges Mean	Cohort Colleges Mean
Providing the support you need to help you succeed at this college		2.73	2.95	2.91

Benchmark Five, Support for Learners Question that Falls Below the Average Mean of the Consortium and the Cohort for 2006

Note: Scale: 1=Very little; 2=Some; 3=Quite a bit; 4=Very much *M*2.02; *p*<.001

Objective Six

Comparisons of the respondents from 2004 and the respondents from 2006 were conducted to evaluate whether any differences in the perceptions of student participants, with regards to the five benchmarks (active/collaborative learning, student effort, academic challenge, student-faculty interaction, and support for learners), existed. Table 26 reflects the frequencies of the two years of the study.

Table 26Frequencies of the Two Years of the Survey (N=1584)

Year	F	%
2004	804	50.8
2006	780	49.2
Total	1584	100.0

This gives the overall breakdown of the number of survey submitted to CCSSE for use in the survey data. This shows that the first year 2004 (50.8%) contained more surveys than the second year that the survey was administered

at Navarro College, 2006 (49.2%). It also shows that the data analyses were

conducted using the constant N=1584.

In addition, Table 27 provides descriptions for the five benchmarks for each of the two years of the study.

Table 27

Overall Findings of the Five Benchmarks of the Study with Valid Surveys Submitted to CCSSE for 2004 and 2006 (N=1584)

Benchmarks	F	%	М	SD
Benchmark One				
2004	776	96.5%	2.10	0.50
2006	731	93.7%	2.10	0.48
Total	1581		2.10	0.47
Benchmark Two				
2004	776	96.5%	2.01	0.49
2006	731	93.7%	2.03	0.49
Total	1581		2.02	0.48
Benchmark Three				
2004	776	96.5%	2.93	0.55
2006	731	93.7%	2.91	0.58
Total	1582		2.91	0.57
Benchmark Four				
2004	776	96.5%	2.14	0.56
2006	731	93.7%	2.14	0.55
Total	1583		2.14	0.56
Benchmark Five				
2004	776	95.5%	2.15	0.62
2006	731	93.7%	2.10	0.62
Total	1578		2.13	0.61

Note: *M*=2.26; *SD*=0.54; *p*<0.001

Table 27 shows that the one area of increase is seen in benchmark three academic challenge from 2004 to 2006. This benchmark has the highest average mean (M=2.91), indicating that the students scored more times in the columns which indicated that they worked harder or studied at a level of "quite a bit" and "very much" more than they did in the columns indicating "some" or "very little." In addition, a nominal difference exists between the remaining four benchmarks. This means that the questions within those benchmarks correspond closely to the topic of that benchmark. This is further supported with the low standard deviation scores for each of the benchmarks.

An ANOVA was conducted between the means of the benchmarks to determine the effect, if any, on the inferred quality of advising as seen through independent data from Navarro College that is based upon student persistence, student GPA, and student graduation. Table 28 shows the independent samples t-test for each benchmark for the two years of the survey study.

Benchmarks	N	М	SD	Т	Р
Active/Collaborative					
Learning					
2004	801	2.10	0.50	0.22	0.83
2006	780	2.10	0.48		
Student Effort					
2004	801	2.01	0.49	0.75	0.45
2006	780	2.03	0.49		
Academic Challenge					
2004	803	2.93	0.55	0.78	0.44
2006	779	2.91	0.58		
Student-Faculty					
Interaction					
2004	804	2.14	0.56	0.31	0.75
2006	779	2.14	0.55		
Support for Learners					
2004	801	2.15	0.61	1.72	0.09
2006	777	2.11	0.62		

Table 28Comparison of Navarro College Benchmark Scores for 2004 and 2006

Note: N=1584; M=2.26; SD=0.54; p<0.001

Table 28 shows that no significant difference was found between the two years and the five benchmarks: benchmark one, active/collaborative learning, t(1581)=0.22, p>.001; benchmark two, student effort, t(1581)=0.75, p<.001; benchmark three, academic challenge t(1583)=0.78, p<.001; benchmark four, student-faculty interaction t(1585)=0.31, p<.001; and benchmark five, support for learners t(1578)=1.72, p<.001.

Within the study, four independent variables existed and formed the personal characteristics of the study, which include age, gender, ethnicity, and enrollment status. Objective six also examines the relationships that exist between participants' perceptions of each of the five benchmarks or the dependent variables and the personal characteristics or independent variables to see if any statistically significant differences exist based upon a students' age, gender, ethnic background or enrollment status for each of the study's years, 2004 and 2006.

Table 29

Benchmarks	Ν	М	SD	F	Р
Benchmark One				3.80	0.00
18-19	601	2.06	0.45		
20-21	374	2.11	0.51		
22-24	180	2.12	0.48		
25-29	138	2.17	0.48		
30-39	141	2.21	0.54		
40-49	64	2.00	0.41		
50+	29	2.07	0.54		
Total	1527	2.10	0.49		
Benchmark Two				3.78	0.000
18-19	601	1.97	0.46		
20-21	374	1.99	0.46		
22-24	180	2.11	0.50		
25-29	138	2.09	0.52		
30-39	141	2.08	0.56		
40-49	64	2.06	0.46		
50+	29	2.20	0.67		
Total	1527	2.02	0.49		
Benchmark Three				1.99	0.000
18-19	601	2.85	0.51		
20-21	374	2.86	0.56		
22-24	180	2.96	0.59		
25-29	138	3.05	0.63		
30-39	141	3.13	0.60		
40-49	64	2.97	0.57		
50+	29	3.05	0.56		
Total	1527	2.02	0.56		
Benchmark Four				2.51	0.014
18-19	601	2.10	0.55		
20-21	374	2.14	0.57		
22-24	180	2.19	0.55		
25-29	138	2.20	0.58		
30-39	141	2.22	0.53		
40-49	64	2.07	0.52		
50+	29	2.11	0.52		
Total	1527	2.80	0.91		
Benchmark Five				0.94	0.477
18-19	601	2.15	0.59		
20-21	374	2.09	0.61		
22-24	180	2.14	0.62		
25-29	138	2.19	0.64		
30-39	141	2.18	0.62		
40-49	64	2.05	0.62		
50+	29	2.03	0.64		
Total	1527	1.99	1.03		

Benchmark Frequencies According to Age for 2004 and 2006

Note: *N*=1584; *M*=2.26; *SD*=0.54

Table 29 shows that overall that, although a statistical difference exists between the first category of students' ages (18-19), there was not a practical enough difference between respondents to make a general conclusion or recommendation.

In addition to looking at the data from an age standpoint, the data can be reviewed and manipulated according to the gender. Table 30 shows the gender frequencies for each of the two years that the survey was administered.

Table 30Gender Frequencies for 2004 and 2006 (N=1584)

Gender Frequencies Per Year	Male		Fema	ıle
	f	%	f	%
2004	321	40.4	474	59.6
2006	271	46.6	470	63.4
Combined (2004 and 2006)	592	37.4	944	59.6
Note: 2004 N=795; 2006 N=741				

This shows the gender frequency for each year and the combined frequencies for both years of the survey. In the two survey years, the female proportion was larger than the male participants; this coincides with the overall national community college enrollment figures. The following table, Table 31, shows that no significant difference was found between the male and female counterparts participating in the survey from 2004 to 2006.

Benchmarks	п	М	SD	Т	Р
Benchmark One					
Male	592	2.096	0.48	0.45	0.657
Female	944	2.108	0.49		
Benchmark Two					
Male	592	1.979	0.46	2.98	0.003
Female	944	2.054	0.50		
Benchmark Three					
Male	592	2.845	0.51	4.21	0.001
Female	944	2.969	0.59		
Benchmark Four					
Male	592	2.129	0.56	0.85	0.395
Female	944	2.154	0.55		
Benchmark Five					
Male	592	2.094	0.58	1.88	0.060
Female	944	2.154	0.63		
Note: $M_{-2,26}$, $CD_{-0,54}$					

 Table 31

 Male versus Female Responses to the Benchmarks (N=1584)

Note: *M*=2.26; *SD*=0.54

This shows that no significant difference was found between the male and female survey participants' perceptions in benchmarks one and four, with benchmark one, active/collaborative learning, t(1536)=0.45, p>.001, and benchmark four, student-faculty interaction, t(1536)=0.85, p>.001. This table shows that no significant difference was found between male and female respondents with regards to benchmark 5, support for learners: t(1536)=1.88, p>.001. In addition, this table shows that no significant difference was found between the genders in benchmark two, student effort: t(1536)=2.98, p>.001, and that no significant difference was found between male and female respondents in benchmark 3 academic challenge, t(1536)=4.21, p>.001.

The next dependent variable in which the benchmarks were compared is ethnicity. For the purpose of the analysis, ethnic groups were combined to enable comparison. The survey created seven categories for ethnic distinction however three categories have been combined to create a new "other" group. The categories combined into the new "other" category include: American Indian or other Native American; Asian, Asian American or Pacific Islander; Native Hawaiian; and Other. The other categories are in tact; these include: Black or African American, Non-Hispanic; White, Non-Hispanic; and Hispanic, Latino, Spanish. Table 32 shows the breakdown of the benchmarks according to the ethnicity dependent variable.

Table 32Ethnicity Frequencies for 2004 and 2006

Year	Black or African America	n.	Whit Non- Hispa	e, anic	Hispa Latin Span	anic, o, ish	Othe	r
	Non-His	panic	.1		·· I ··			
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
2004	217	27.5	419	53.2	91	11.5	61	7.7
2006	172	23.4	408	55.6	96	13.1	58	7.9
Total	389	24.6	827	52.2	187	11.8	119	11.4

Note: *M*=2.26; *SD*=0.54

Table 32 shows that no significant difference was found in the numbers within each ethnic group in the study. The one group that decreased in overall numbers is the Black or African American, Non-Hispanic group from 2004 (27.5%) to 2006 (23.4%). The numbers displaced from this group were distributed to the other three groups.

In addition, the survey asked respondents whether or not they were considered international students or foreign nationals. Table 33 shows the breakdown of these international students.

Table 33International Students or Foreign National Students Frequency Table for 2004and 2006

Year	f	%
2004	78	10.0
2006	62	8.4
Total	140	9.2
N		

Note: 2004 N=787; 2006 N=739

This table shows that the amount of international students or students identifying themselves as foreign nationals was larger in 2004 (10.0%) than in 2006 (8.4%) and that the overall number of international students in the study was 9.2% of the total students surveyed.

Table 34Ethnicity Across Benchmarks (N=1584)

Benchmarks	N	М	SD
Benchmark One			
Black/African American (4)	384	2.17	0.49
White/Non-Hispanic (5)	819	2.06	0.47
Hispanic/Latino/Spanish (6)	187	2.09	0.50
Other (1,2,3,7)	116	2.22	0.55
Benchmark Two			
Black/African American	384	2.09	0.45
White/Non-Hispanic	819	1.95	0.46
Hispanic/Latino/Spanish	187	2.04	0.62
Other	116	0.53	0.53
Benchmark Three			
Black/African American	384	2.96	0.58
White/Non-Hispanic	819	2.90	0.57
Hispanic/Latino/Spanish	187	2.94	0.48
Other	116	2.78	0.57
Benchmark Four			
Black/African American	384	2.26	0.61
White/Non-Hispanic	819	2.09	0.52
Hispanic/Latino/Spanish	187	2.10	0.55
Other	116	2.18	0.64
Benchmark Five			
Black/African American	384	2.23	0.65
White/Non-Hispanic	819	2.08	0.58
Hispanic/Latino/Spanish	187	2.16	0.58
Other	116	1.86	0.66

Note: *M*=2.26; *SD*=0.54

Table 35 illustrates the respondents according to enrollment status and the benchmarks. Enrollment status is defined as full-time or part-time. Carrying a course load of 12 hours is considered full-time. Anything less than 12 credit hours is considered part-time. Figures from the survey indicated that the total numbers of students over the two-year survey period involved more full-time status students (83.2%) than part-time students (16.8%).

Benchmarks	N	М	SD
Benchmark One			
Part-Time	266	1.91	0.49
Full-Time	1305	2.14	0.48
Benchmark Two			
Part-Time	266	1.87	0.50
Full-Time	1305	2.05	0.48
Benchmark Three			
Part-Time	266	2.75	0.58
Full-Time	1304	2.95	0.55
Benchmark Four			
Part-Time	266	1.99	0.54
Full-Time	1304	2.17	0.56
Benchmark Five			
Part-Time	265	1.94	0.62
Full-Time	1303	2.17	0.63

Table 35Benchmarks Versus Enrollment Status (N=1584)

Note: *M*=2.26; *SD*=0.54

This shows that the average mean scores for full-time students are higher for each of the five benchmarks. The initial indication for this higher summative mean score for the full-time student across the five benchmarks can be that more first-time, full-time students were included in the survey sampling.

Objective Seven

Objective seven describes the faculty-centered student advisement program implemented at Navarro College in the fall 2003 semester as a means to improve teaching, learning, and retention. Navarro College implemented the program in the fall of 2003 with three broad, comprehensive goals that include:

- 1. "To enhance the first year college experience of Navarro College students in order to promote student success and student learning;
- 2. To implement a faculty-centered student advisement program to assist students in the completion of their academic/career goals; and
- To promote contact between students and college professionals, particularly faculty" (*Navarro College Quality Enhancement Program*, 2006, p. 15).

The implementation of this advisement program is being conducted in five stages over seven years. The advisement program focuses on the first-time, full-time students at the beginning of implementing the program and moves into adding other full-time students and part-time students through the five-stage process. Figure 2 shows the implementation process of the advisement program at Navarro College.



Figure 2. Implementation Stages of Navarro College Faculty-Centered Student Advisement Program (Provided by Dewayne Gragg, Dean of Enrollment Management)

This shows the commitment to the advisement program by the college's administration and shows that the implementation process is well underway, with stages one and two implemented and completed successfully and plans for stage three in the process to be implemented in fall 2008.

According to the college's QEP, the intended outcome of the facultycentered student advisement program is a partnership between student and faculty, and by achieving this, the college expects to experience with and for the Navarro College students the following: improved grade point averages, higher persistence rates, and increased graduation and completion rates. Benchmarks one, two and three (active/collaborative learning, student effort, and academic challenge) corresponded to the overall goal of the first step of the QEP, which includes the faculty-centered student advisement program at Navarro College to promote student success and student learning. The summative mean scores for these three benchmarks reflected that Navarro College scored higher overall on benchmark one (M=2.10) and benchmark three (M=2.91) than the summative score from the 2006 cohort data, which is serving as a national standard for this data. With benchmark two (M=2.04), the Navarro College score was lower than the reported score for the cohort (M=2.12). This is seen in Table 36.

Table 36

Comparative Summative Mean Scores for Benchmarks One, Two, and Three for Navarro College and the Cohort

			_
Benchmarks	NC	Cohort	
Benchmark One Active/Collaborative Learning	2.10	2.07	_
Benchmark Two Student Effort	2.04	2.12	
Benchmark Three Academic Challenge	2.91	2.69	
			_

Note: *SD*=0.51

In addition, survey questions that corresponded to the second goal of the advisement program, to assist students in the completion of their academic/career goals, were included as the ones that correspond to benchmark five, support for learners. The summative mean scores are shown in Table 37.

Table 37

Comparative Summative Mean Scores for Benchmark Five Support for Learners for Navarro College and the Cohort

Benchmark	NC	Cohort
Benchmark Five Support for Learners	2.13	2.09
Note: <i>SD</i> =0.61		

This shows that Navarro College's summative mean score for all of benchmark five, support for learners (M=2.13) exceeded the summative mean score for the CCSSE cohort from 2006 (M=2.09), which is the combined score of the colleges participating in the survey for 2004 and 2006. Here again, Navarro College was fulfilling its promise to its students as relayed in the QEP when stated that the college wants to assist students in the completion of the academic/career goals.

The final component or goal of the faculty-centered student advisement program at Navarro College is concerned with promoting contact between students and college professionals, particularly with faculty members. This component of the advisement program corresponded most closely with benchmark four, student-faculty interaction. As revealed in the previous discussion of benchmark four, the interaction between students and faculty at Navarro College was positive. The students responded through the survey that they felt that members of the Navarro College staff were willing to help them with questions. In the summative mean scores for Navarro College (M=2.14) and the cohort (M=2.08), Navarro College again exceeded the national standard. This is shown in Table 38.

Table 38Comparative Summative Mean Scores for Benchmark Four Student-FacultyInteraction for Navarro College and the Cohort

Benchmark	NC	Cohort
Benchmark Four Student-Faculty Interaction	2.14	2.08
Note: <i>SD</i> =0.56		

Objective Eight

This objective describes the impacts of the faculty-centered student advisement program at Navarro College on student teaching, learning, and retention. The primary objective of the faculty-centered student advisement program is to create the staying power of the students in order to succeed through personal successes, professional successes, and academic successes. This was measured in the amount of students returning from Fall to Spring and from Fall to Fall. Figure 3 shows the first-time, full-time fall semester completers with the implementation of the advisement program, and at the time of writing this record of study, the data for 2006 had not yet been available for comparison.



Figure 3. First-Time, Full-Time Students Returning First Spring and then Fall and the following Spring

This is indicative of the national trend as relayed in Chapter II, and this bar chart shows that Navarro College is ahead in the statistics in returning students for the following fall semester hitting above the fifty percent mark (Fall 2004 51.7%).

In addition to recognizing the amount of students who complete the fall semesters, it is equally important to note the amount of students who return the following spring semester. Table 39 shows the breakdown of returning students by year according to ethnicity. Please note that the "other" category includes for Navarro College: Asian, Native American or Other, and International Student or Foreign National.

Ethnicity	2003	2004	2005
White/non-Hispanic	80.0%	82.7%	81.2%
Hispanic/Latino/Spanish	84.9%	87.0%	90.0%
Black or African American	79.5%	79.4%	83.0%
Other	70.0%	79.4%	76.0%

Table 39First-Time, Full-Time Students Returning in Spring Semester According toEthnicity

This shows that the implementation of the faculty-centered student advisement program has created an increase in the percentages of students who persist and return to Navarro College from fall semester to the following fall semester for each year from 2003 to 2005, with an increase seen in each of the ethnic groups listed. This is further shown in Figure 4.

First Spring Returning Ethnicity



Figure 4. First-Time, Full-Time Students Persistence According to Ethnicity

According to this figure, the ethnic group showing the most gain is the Hispanic group with an annual increase in the percentage of first-time, full-time Hispanic students returning the first spring of their enrollments from 2002 (78.5%) to 2003 (84.9%) to 2004 (87.0%) to 2005 (90.0%). Likewise, overall enrollment for each ethnic group listed was higher from 2003 to 2005. This is a great stride in the overall retention objectives of the college and for the students.

In addition, these numbers can be broken into age categories. Table 40 shows the return of students to the spring semester at Navarro College for the same years.

Table 40First-Time, Full-Time Students Returning in Spring Semester According to Age

Age	2003	2004	2005
22 and Under	79.4%	81.5%	82.6%
23-29	79.1%	89.8%	80.0%
30-39	87.8%	81.5%	90.3%
40 and Over	92.3%	90.0%	77.7%

This shows that between 2003 and 2004, with the initial implementation of the faculty-centered student advisement program, two of the four age groups experienced an increase in returning students, with only a slight decrease in the forty and over ages. The table also shows that the most affected age group, with regards to returning students, is the 22 and under group, from 79.4% to 82.6%. Since the advisement program focuses on first-time, full-time at the beginning of implementation, it is worth noting that the majority of first-time, full-time students fall within the ages of 18-22. Even so, the next age 23-29 also showed an increase in 2004, but a decline in 2005 where the 30-39 age group does the opposite, with a decrease in 2004 and an increase in 2005. Figure 5 shows this, also.



Figure 5. First-Time, Full-Time Students Returning in Spring Semester According to Age

In addition to persistence, student grade point average (GPA) can be an indicator of student success. For the first group of students to persist from the first fall (2003) to spring (2004), Figure 6 shows the percentage increase in GPA for the student returning that first spring semester.



Figure 6. Fall to Spring Persistence First Fall GPA Comparison

This is also seen in Table 41.

Table 41Fall to Spring Persistence First Fall GPA Comparison

Academic Year	2004	2005	2006
GPA 2.00-2.99	85.5%	88.3%	90.2%
GAP 3.00-Up	87.7%	90.5%	91.0%

This shows that students are persisting at a higher rate, and they are persisting with more rigor and success. The implementation of the facultycentered student advisement program was working to keep students on track with their respective educational goals, and, in some cases, helping these students make better grades.
One area in which to measure student and institutional success is with enrollment across the three campuses, as Figure 7 shows the fall to spring campus enrollment impact.



Figure 7. Returning First-Time, Full-Time Fall Students to the first Spring Semester Enrollment According to Navarro College Campus

This shows that, with the implementation of the faculty-centered student advisement program, the combined effect has been positive, with the slight decrease in the Waxahachie campus' numbers being reflected in the Spring that a fourth campus was opened in Midlothian.

Another positive area in which to measure student success is through the percentage of students graduating. Figure 8 shows the graduation rate for Navarro College for the spring semester preceding the implementation of the faculty-centered student advisement program, the year it was implemented, one year after the program was implemented, and two years after the program was implemented.



Figure 8. Graduation Rates at Navarro College after Implementing the Faculty-Centered Student Advisement Program

This shows that, after the implementation of the faculty-centered student advisement program, graduation rates increased. This is also reflected in Table 42. Even so, the above figure does not indicate the number of students who successfully completed their desired courses for transfer or certificate purposes. This is an area in which some type of consideration can be taken.

Navarro College	Spring	Spring	Spring
	2003	2004	2005
Graduation Rate	19.16%	19.17%	19.71%

Graduation Rates at Navarro College after Implementing the Faculty-Centered Student Advisement Program

Table 42

This shows an increase in the graduation rate for Navarro College students after implementing the faculty-centered student advisement program, and with over 6000 students enrolled across the campuses, this calculated to 1183 students graduating each spring. Thus, the 0.54% increase from Spring 2004 to Spring 2005 breaks into 32 more students graduating after the advisement program was implemented after two years of advising, and the program implemented at approximately 40% of its planned expansion at this point. The implementation process is seen in Figure 2.

With the evident increases since the implementation of the facultycentered student advisement program in student persistence from fall to fall for the semester/years covered, in increased GPAs reported each semester, and in the increased graduation rate for the past three springs, it is with confidence that this information is reported and that the juxtaposition of this data to the creation and implementation of the advisement program is made. Faculty members are increasingly contacting students and students are eagerly seeking their faculty advisors as the college moves through the fourth year of having and maintaining advisees. This has turned into a win-win situation as more and more students are interacting with more and more faculty members and other college professional staff, and these two entities are reaping these retention benefits.

Overall, the benefits of the faculty-centered student advisement program at Navarro College are present in numbers and percentages, but even more so in the students who continue to enroll, to persist, and to succeed. This is seen through an increase over the past three years (2003, 2004 and 2005) in first-time fall semester completions, in first-time returning spring term students, in fall-tofall retention rates, in GPAs, and in graduation rates as evident in the tables and figures presented.

CHAPTER V

FINDINGS/CONCLUSIONS/IMPLICATIONS

This study has been conducted to determine if the intervention of a faculty-centered student advisement program has been successful in the retention or persistence of students at a small community college in central Texas. The objectives of the study, the summary of methodology, the summary of key findings/conclusions for each objective, additional implications and recommendations, and recommendations for further studies are presented in this chapter.

Objectives of the Study

The purpose of this study was to determine if a faculty-centered student advisement program implemented at a rural community college affects student retention in a positive manner. The specific objectives of the study were to:

- Describe participants' perceptions of active and collaborative learning during 2004 and 2006.
- Describe participants' perceptions of student effort during 2004 and 2006.
- Describe participants' perceptions of academic challenge during 2004 and 2006.
- Describe participants' perceptions of student-faculty interaction during 2004 and 2006.

- Describe participants' perceptions of support for learners during 2004 and 2006.
- Examine participant perceptions of active and collaborative learning, student effort, academic challenge, student-faculty interaction, and support for learners and personal characteristics and any relationships between 2004 and 2006.
- Describe the faculty-centered student advisement program implemented at Navarro College as a means to improve teaching, learning, and retention.
- 8. Describe the faculty-centered student advisement program inferred impacts on student teaching, learning, and retention.

Summary of Methodology

The Community College Survey of Student Engagement (CCSSE) is a project housed within The Community College Leadership Program at The University of Texas in Austin. Data was collected in 2004 and 2006 on five benchmark areas: active and collaborative learning, student effort, academic challenge, student faculty interaction, and support for learners, based on teaching, learning and retention in community colleges. The instrument was administered to students in classes using stratified random sampling from all three operating campuses within Navarro College by faculty. CCSSE personnel used the random stratified sampling, which accounted for gender, race/ethnicity, age and enrollment status, which form the independent variables of the study.

The CCSSE survey was administered during two separate spring semester (2004 and 2006) over a five day period and took approximately thirty minutes to complete. The surveys were returned to the office of enrollment management and then forwarded to The Community College Leadership Program for tabulation and comparison. The results from the survey can be used to assist the college in identifying where it is and what further action may be helpful in the continued work to support and strengthen teaching and learning.

As reported by CCSSE, the survey instrument and the constructs derived from the survey are reliable because of three phases of model development, which demonstrated validity with student's respective grade point average (GPA). The reliability was further tested in the second phase when measurement of invariance across the groups was assessed. Likewise, validity was assessed during the third phase by showing any relationship between the GPA and latent constructs (Marti, 2004). The reported results show that the survey is appropriate for use across a variety of populations.

Summary of Key Findings/Conclusions/Implications for Each Objective

In looking at each of the eight objectives, summaries of each objective are given in this portion of this chapter, including key findings, key conclusions/implications, and recommendations for each of the objectives. One of the most observable components in the data for these five important benchmarks of this study and of the CCSSE student engagement survey is the fact the Navarro College falls below the average means of other colleges within its same size very few times. In fact, in only two instances does Navarro College receive a below the mean ranking from CCSSE in the 2006 data collection, in which the college falls below the consortium average mean with regards to all students' combined data. It is in those two areas that the college can focus in order to enhance student retention through those benchmarks. These areas are addressed in the following findings.

Objective One: Key Findings

Objective one describes the participants' perceptions of the first benchmark of the survey, which is active/collaborative learning. As defined earlier, active and collaborative learning is being actively engaged in individual learning. According to CCSSE, students' learning is enhanced through simulated experiences within the classroom. In addition, collaborative learning can and should involve working with others to solve problems. Students can learn and develop valuable skills that can enhance in preparing them for situations they may encounter once in the workplace. One finding with this objective is that Navarro College's summative mean (M=2.04) is consistent with the national level of the cohort of colleges that are similar in size.

Objective One: Conclusions/Implications

The conclusions with this objective reveal that Navarro College averages over fifty percent (59.8%) with the questions that pertain to having class discussions and participating in studies for classes. This has positive implications in that the more the faculty can involve students in discussion and activities both inside and outside the classroom that pertains to classroom discussions and readings, the better chance that the student will feel more connected to the class, to his classmates, to the faculty member and to the institution.

Objective One: Recommendations

It is recommended to create faculty training sessions to encourage and to exemplify ways in which learning can be simulated. Simulated exercises can enhance learning, and one of the benefits of learning is retention.

Objective Two: Key Findings

Objective two describes student perception with regards to student effort at Navarro College. Student effort, as defined previously, pertains to the behavior of the student himself as the behavior contributes to or diminishes from the student's learning. Some items that reflect student effort include: the time spent on a task; the setting where one works on a task; and the preparedness for the task.

One finding, with regards to benchmark two and objective two, is with the reliability of the dependent variables. The Cronbach's alpha coefficient for benchmark two student effort is low (r=0.52), as revealed in Table 1, and this can have implications that may need to be addressed through the survey itself.

Objective Two: Conclusions/Implications

Some of the conclusions for this objective revealed that three-quarters of the students participating in the survey reported spending less than ten hours each week outside of class preparing for class. The implications for this outside-of-class preparation can show that we have students who may need to study more. In addition, over one half of the students surveyed reported that they utilize some type of tutorial laboratory offered on campus, such as the writing lab, the math lab, or the computer labs. This implies that the Navarro College students responding to the survey are actively involved in their learning by frequenting the labs provided by the college.

The conclusion that the Cronbach's alpha coefficient is low (r=0.52) for benchmark two student effort can have implications that CCSSE may need to examine the questions that pertain to this benchmark on the survey itself.

Objective Two: Recommendations

It is recommended that faculty continue to encourage students to use the learning services provided on-campus as well as to encourage students to seek peer and professional tutoring when necessary.

Objective Three: Key Findings

Academic challenge was the third benchmark studied. Creativity and intellectual growth are important components to what is considered academic challenge. Students were asked about their perceptions of academic challenge at Navarro College with questions on the survey regarding expectations, theory, experience, judgment, values, textbooks, and writing. The primary findings in this objective reveal that one hundred percent of Navarro College students reported on the survey that they felt academically challenged, from "very little" to "very much." The combined average mean shows that over half of the students (54.8%) surveyed reported that they were challenged academically from "quite a bit" to "very much" levels.

Objective Three: Conclusions/Implications

In benchmark three, academic challenge, which corresponds with questions for objective three, it is important to note that the college falls short in maintaining the same statistical level for one question in this area from 2004 to 2006. The implications for this means that the college could look at this area, which is referring to the ability of the student to use information read or studied to perform a new skill, and determine if classroom simulations could be incorporated. Even so, the implications for the college with regards to benchmark three are positive in that faculty members are working to create challenges in the classroom and students are working to meet those challenges.

Objective Three: Recommendations

Following that the implications for the college falls short in one area of this benchmark, some type of simulation training to encourage faculty to implement them into classroom teaching strategies could be included in the convocation sessions for either fall or spring terms. However, the same results indicate that Navarro College average means for the survey items in this benchmark fall above the consortium and cohort or national average on nine of the ten questions on the survey. It is recommended that the faculty be made aware of both of these areas and the type of analytical and synthesizing-type questions the survey is asking students and work to determine what additions to or changes with their teaching curricula they can use. It is important to let the faculty know when they are achieving and exceeding the mark, as well as the areas that need improvement.

Objective Four: Key Findings

Student-faculty interaction is the fourth benchmark discussed from this study, and it entails the actual contact made between students and their teachers. It is revealed through Tinto (1975, 1993) and others that, the more contact made between students and faculty members, the more likely the students are to persist and to learn more effectively. In addition, students' personal interaction with faculty further strengthens the students' connectedness to the institution thus creating a stronger bond between the student and the institution. This is not limited to classroom connections; it can also include working on a committee with faculty members. Contact between students and faculty can also include sending/receiving electronic mail, discussing grades and talking about career plans. From 2004 to 2006, little statistical significant increase exists within this objective.

Objective Four: Conclusions/Implications

Student-faculty interaction is an important aspect for effective faculty advising, and through the survey instrument, it is relevant that Navarro College faculty interact with their students. Findings that relate to objective four include that Navarro College works with communicating with students at over the thirty percentile for all of these questions. In addition, in half of the survey items pertaining to this objective, the results show that Navarro College showed a nominal increase in average mean scores from 2004 to 2006.

The implication for this benchmark and the faculty members is that the measures being implemented by faculty members to connect with students is working and they are encouraged to continue working to include interaction, both inside and outside the classroom. This encouragement shown to the students is welcomed because it can work to improve the overall perception of the faculty-centered student advisement program.

Objective Four: Recommendations

It is recommended that faculty meet in focus-group settings within divisions and departments to generate dialogue regarding issues of concerns and areas of success in order to share information. This information can, in turn, be shared across the campuses to improve student-faculty contact and interaction by sharing ideas that have and have not worked.

Objective Five: Key Findings

The fifth and final benchmark in this study deals with support for learners. The concept behind this benchmark is that the more support that the students feel from the college, from academic and career planning to nonacademic responsibilities, the more committed the student is to his own success. Seven survey items corresponded to this benchmark. The overall finding for this objective reveals that students do feel or the perception by students seems to be that Navarro College faculty, staff and administrators are concerned with their individual success. This is important in making the student want to continue, to continue and to succeed with their education and beyond.

Objective Five: Conclusions/Implications

One finding in this objective shows that Navarro College meets and exceeds student expectations (65.4%) by providing support to its students. The findings in this area lean toward Navarro College providing above adequate information on financial services; however, the college fell short in comparison across the consortium and cohort with one question. This was the first question on the survey pertaining to this benchmark. It pertains to providing support needed by the student to succeed at this college. This is one of six questions on the survey that dealt with benchmark five support for learners. The Navarro College score (M=2.73) is significantly lower than the Consortium score (M=2.95) and the Cohort score (M=2.91). On the opposite side of this below-the-mean score, Navarro College scored above the average mean, also. For the frequency question about students using skill labs (writing, math, etc.), Navarro College (M=1.94) scored well above the average mean of the Consortium (M=1.82) and the cohort (M=1.71).

The implication of this objective is for the college to try and provide more information about the advising program and about the counseling center that is available to all the students. This information being more readily available to the students could raise the perception of support and assistance with regards to helping students succeed with the collegiate careers at Navarro College.

Objective Five: Recommendations

For the most part, this type of standardized reporting is an easy manner in which to assess an individual institution's performance level as compared to colleges of similar sizes, and in this case, to itself, as well, from one year to another. It is recommended to look at the areas in which the college falls short, such as with the two questions, one of which is in benchmark five support for learners, and see how best to help students simulate materials learned into their everyday lives and see how to assist students with finding the information on campus about surviving and succeeding at campus. It is also recommended to make finding and meeting with you academic advisor a mandatory part of the orientation classes. This will be feasible after the total implementation process of the faculty-centered student advisement program is complete.

Objective Six: Key Findings

Objective six examines participant perceptions of the five benchmarks, which include active/collaborative learning, student effort, academic challenge, student-faculty interaction, and support for learners, and the personal characteristics, which include age, gender, ethnicity, and enrollment status, of the survey participants for 2004 and 2006. This, in essence, is the objective that meshes the dependent variables of the benchmarks with or to the independent variables of the personal characteristics for the study. A key finding of this objective is that Navarro College has remained at a consistent rate across the five benchmarks and the independent variables for the two years, 2004 and 2006, and across the overall scores for both years. Another key finding of this objective, as it pertains to the five benchmarks, is that the younger aged students have responded the most strongly with first fall to first spring and with first fall to second fall persistence ratings. This finding in the data correlates to the implementation of the advisement program starting with the first-time, full-time students. The majority of first-time, full-time students tend to be the traditionally-aged student, even at the community college level.

Objective Six: Conclusions/Implications

One reason for not finding more depth of change from 2004 to 2006 is the fact that is has not been a long enough time to see much change. However, with the consistency in the findings in the data from one year to the next does show that Navarro College is maintaining its course and, in some instances, it is moving forward with regards to student retention and student success. This is a key objective of the faculty-centered student advisement program. The implication in this instance is that, with the statistics remaining very constant from 2004 to 2006, the academic advisors at Navarro College have been actively involved in advising as many students as possible over this three year period, and the college is working in the direction to help its students stay in school. The implication for the second finding is that, with the implementation process reaching one hundred percent, all the students will be assigned an advisor and the perceptions of the students will increase with regards to the commitment of the institution to the respective educational successes because the college will have a face, the academic advisor, and hopefully, more students will continue to return each semester.

Objective Six: Recommendations

Further work within the CCSSE cohort will prove instrumental in showing the trends that the work performed by Navarro College administrators, faculty and staff over the past three years and even today is doing and creating a strong and supportive basis for faculty advisement and for student success. It is recommended that the college stay in the program and participate in the survey again in the future because will be beneficial to the college to use the data to create a strong baseline for comparison.

In addition, further work within the faculty/administrative focus group will need to be continued as advisors work together and across the disciplines of the college to provide this service to the students. And, as this group continues to share ideas, trainings for all faculty and staff members involved in the advising of students can be developed and shared.

In addition, it is recommended that Navarro College continue in the CCSSE cohort and review another round of the student satisfaction survey now that a steady baseline has been developed. This can continue to serve as a guideline for creating and maintaining student services through successful and efficient advising. Also, CCSSE has initiated the survey questions regarding academic advising in 2006. These can be reviewed and studied, with the possibility of this being seen more in the survey, and this can help with determining how and in what direction the advisement program can grow.

Objective Seven: Key Findings

Objective seven describes the faculty-centered student advisement program at Navarro College on student teaching, learning, and retention. The primary objective of the faculty-centered student advisement program is to create the staying power of the students in order to succeed, through personal successes, professional successes, and academic successes.

Objective Seven: Conclusions/Implications

One way in which this is measured is in the amount of students returning from fall to spring and the first-time, full-time fall semester completers with the implementation of the advisement program. At the time of writing this record of study, the Navarro College data for 2006, including fall semester completion and graduation rates, were not available for comparison. Even so, the implications for this objective and the advisement program are relevant because this objective is concerned with enhancing the first year college experience. With the findings revealed more effectively through objective eight, the facultycentered student advisement program is a necessary means to achieve student and institutional success. The implications for the college, as revealed through the increase in graduation rates over the past three springs as well as the rise in student GPAs, are positive for enrollment management and retention.

Objective Seven: Recommendations

It is recommended, through this objective, to continue to promote contact between students and college professionals, especially faculty, in order to promote positive connections and to enhance retention.

Objective Eight: Key Findings

Objective eight describes the faculty-centered student advisement program implemented at Navarro College as a means to improve teaching, learning, and retention and any relationships between 2004 and 2006 in statistical findings and with personal characteristics. Inferring information is related to the mission of the faculty-centered student advisement program, thus this objective is interconnected and correlated closely to Objective seven.

The primary finding of this objective and for the faculty-centered student advisement program overall is the increase seen in several key areas that affect student collegiate/academic life and respective student success. One such area is the amount of student increase with the fall full-time students returning the first spring. This increase is seen beginning in 2003 with 79.5% return rate; this is up from 2002 with 76.7% returning. Then, again in 2004, it is evident with a jump to 81.3% and again in 2005 with a jump to 82.3%. From the inception of the advisement program in the fall of 2003, the returning student from first fall to first spring is 2.8%; this correlates to 168 students being positively affected by this program. This number also indicates an increase in student retention and student success.

Another area in which is this seen is in the persistence rate of first fall to second fall. From Fall 2003 to Fall 2004, Navarro College has seen an increase in first-time, full-time student retention at the end of the first fall semester to returning the following spring semester from 79.8% in 2003 to 82.0% in 2004. Likewise, from Fall 2005 to Spring 2006, the retention rate rose again to 82.6% returning from their first fall semester at Navarro College.

In addition to retention rates, student success is seen and measured in personal achievement also. One such measurement is GPA. First-time full-time student ending fall GPA have increase each fall from an average mean GPA of 2.67 in Fall 2004 to 2.83 in Fall 2005; the median average GPA also increase from 2.77 in 2004 to 3.00 in 2006.

One last key finding with this objective is the graduation rates of Navarro College. For the past three spring semesters, the graduation rate has increased from 2003 (19.16%) to 2004 (19.17%) to 2005 (19.71%). This improved graduation rate, too, is a steady increase that can be tabulated as the advisement program is continuing to be implemented.

Objective Eight: Conclusions/Implications

These findings for Objective eight indicate that the faculty advisement program is making a difference because the implementation process began with first-time, full-time students, and at this point of the process (Spring 2006), the advisement program has only been implemented at 40%. This shows that, as the implementation process grows over the next three years and all the students at Navarro College are incorporated into the advisement program and everyone has an advisor, these numbers and percentages of returning students will grow.

The implications of this objective are significant to the students and to the college itself. Individual successes lead to institutional success, and with these combined successes, Navarro College is working to create an advisor friendly environment for its students. The increase in the graduation rate is one way in which the community college can help the student transition to university life; the student can feel confident to search and find an advisor or mentor to help him adjust and succeed in his new environment.

Objective Eight: Recommendations

As the implementation process of the faculty-centered student advisement program continues, the retention rates within specific areas or groups can also be monitored. For example, student athletes, resident life students, students completing orientation classes, just to name a few. In addition, as the advisement program works to incorporate all students, both fulland part-time, further monitoring is recommended because at the time of this study, approximately 40% of the students had been added into the advisement program, and student perception is a viable thing and can change as the program grows and evolves.

Additional Implications and Recommendations

With indications relevant in the survey data coupled with the increases in overall student persistence, as seen through returning students, GPA increases, and graduation rates at Navarro College, positive advances are seen through the data, it is recommended that Navarro College continue in the consortium and the cohort until the completion of the implementation process of the faculty-centered student advisement program so that a closer review of the data can continue with the CCSSE survey administered in the Spring 2008 and again in 2010. The implications that college readiness for retention based on student's first year GPA, as supported by the American College Testing Program, is supported through the data collected to support Objectives seven and eight in this study. With the improved first year GPAs, Navarro College is retaining students and working to encourage them toward their personal goals. This data can give the most comprehensive look at the effects of the advisement program by creating, maintaining, and monitoring the students against this comprehensive set of benchmarks and a strong baseline of data from these two survey administrations to use as comparison.

I strongly recommend that Navarro College continue in the CCSSE cohort and continue with another round of the survey in 2008 to have a comparison year as well as to look further at the additional questions that were created with consortium input in 2006 and future opportunities to have input with questions and survey data pertaining the academic advising.

Recommendations for Further Studies

In addition to continuing in the CCSSE program until the completion of the implementation process of the Navarro College faculty-centered student advisement program, which is scheduled for 2010, further studies with the supplemental questions that have been submitted to CCSSE by Navarro College and other consortium member colleges and were incorporated into an addendum survey component in 2006 and planned for the 2008 survey could benefit Navarro College. These questions were more specific to student advising and could be beneficial in further meeting the needs of students at this rural, community college. In addition, these questions could also ask students if they were success in completing the desired course for a certificate or for transfer purposes since some students attending community colleges are not there for degree completion.

Further consideration into the implications beyond the community college can be studied, also. For instance, a long-range study could include follow-up with students who attended Navarro College and who participated in this survey to see if they were successful at inquiring and finding an academic advisor at their universities and further down the line with their employment. Or, this type of study can be replicated within a college at the university level, considering the size comparisons between this community college and an academic college at a university. The implications for retention within academic colleges can be connected to student involvement, including peer interactions, classroom environment, and physical environment (Fleming, Howard, Perkins, & Pesta, 2005). Then, in conclusion, the lifelong learning implications of planning for the future are indelibly marked onto our students, and we can assist them beyond the few semesters or years we actually see or teach them on a regular basis by providing a refuge called advising.

REFERENCES

- Agho, H. O., Mueller, C. W., & Price, J. L. (1993). Determinants of employee job satisfaction: An empirical test of causal model. *Human Relations* 46(8), 1007-1027.
- Amaury, N., Barlow, E., & Crisp, G. (2005). Student persistence and degree attainment beyond the first year in college: The need for research. In A. Seidman (Ed.), *College student retention: Formula for student success* (pp. 129-153). Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.
- American College Testing. Statistics. Retrieved September 20, 2006, from http://www.act.org
- American Association of Community Colleges (AACC). Home Page. Retrieved December 19, 2006, from http://www.aacc.nche.edu
- Astin, A.W. (1984). Student involvement: A developmental theory for higher education. *Journal of College Student Personnel*, 25: 297-308.
- Ball, A. L., Garton, B. L. & Dyer, J. E. (2001). The influence of learning communities and 4-H/FFA participation on college of agriculture students' academic performance and retention. *Journal of Agricultural Education 42*(4), 54-63.

Bartlett, C., & Abell, P. (1995). Understanding the transfer student – Or are we?
Paper presented at the Annual National Transfer and Articulation
Symposium, Tuscon, AZ. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED381200)

- Bean, J., & Eaton, P. S. B. (2000). The psychology underlying successful retention practices. *Journal of College Student Retention*, 3(1), 73-89.
- Bean, J. P. (2005). Nine themes of college student retention. In A. Seidman (Ed.), *College student retention: Formula for student success* (pp. 215-243). Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.
- Berger, J. B., & Lyon, S. C. (2005). Past to present: A historical look at retention. In A. Seidman (Ed.), *College student retention: Formula for student success* (pp. 1-29). Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.
- Braxton, J. M. (2000). *Reworking the student departure puzzle*. Nashville: Vanderbilt University Press.
- Braxton, J. M., & Hirschy, A. S. (2005). Theoretical developments in the study of college student departure. In A. Seidman (Ed.), *College student retention: Formula for student success* (pp. 61-87). Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.
- Braxton, J. M., & Hirschy, A. S., & McClendon, S. A. (2004). Understanding and reducing college student departure (Vol. 3). San Fransisco: Wiley Periodicals.
- Chaves, C. A. (2003). Student involvement in the community college setting. ERIC Digest. Retrieved on September 20, 2004, from http://www.gseis.ucls.edu/digests/digest0203.htm

Dewey, J. (1916). Democracy and education. New York: Simon & Schuster.

Durant, W. (1961). The story of philosophy: The lives and opinions of the world's greatest philosophers from Plato to John Dewey. New York: Washington Square Press, Inc.

Durkheim, E. (1951). Coherence optimization model of suicide. Retrieved February 10, 2004, from http://cogprints.org/1081/00/coherencesuicide.htm

Dyer, J. E., Breja, L. M. & Ball, A. L. (2003). Delphi study of agriculture teacher perceptions of problems in student retention. *Journal of Agricultural Education* 44(2), 86-98.

Fleming, W. J. B., Howard, K., Perkins, E. & Pesta, M. (2005, July 13). The College environment: Factors influencing student transition and the impact on academic advising. *The mentor: An academic advising journal* 7(3). Retrieved February 9, 2006, from http://www.psu.edu/dus/mentor/050713bf.htm

Hagedorn, L. S. (2005). How to define retention: A new look at an old problem.In A. Seidman *College student retention: Formula for student success*pp. 89-105). Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.

Jordan, P. (2003). What would a unified theory of academic advising require? *The Mentor: An Academic Advising Journal*. February 3, 2003,
Retrieved June 19, 2004, from

http://www.psu.edu/due/mentor/030203pj.htm

Kellogg Commission Sixth Report on the Future of State and Land Grant Universities. (2000, March). *Renewing the covenant: learning, discover, and engagement in a new age and different world* (Sixth Report).

Kuh, G. D., & Love, P. G. (2000). A cultural perspective on student departure.
In J. M. Braxton (Ed.) *Reworking the student departure puzzle: New theory and research on college student retention* (pp. 196-212).
Nashville: Vanderbilt University Press.

Marti, C. N. (2004) Dimensions of student engagement in American community colleges: Using the community college student report in research and practice. Retrieved January 8, 2007, from http://www.ccsse.org/aboutsurveys

- Metzner, B. S. (1989). Perceived quality of academic advising: The effect on freshman attrition. American Educational Research Journal 26, 422-442.
- Myers, B. E. & Dyer, J. E. (2005). Attitudes, Value, and Preparation of University Faculty and Administrators for Advising. *Journal of Agricultural Education* 46(3), 35-44.
- Myers, B. E., Dyer, J. E. & Washburn, S. G. (2005). Problems facing beginning agricultural teachers. *Journal of Agricultural Education* 46(3), 47-55.

National Academic Advising Association. The statement of core values of academic advising. Retrieved June 21, 2006 from www.nacada.ksu.edu

National Center for Educational Statistics. Department of Education. Statistics. Retrieved January 11, 2007, from www.nces.ed.gov

- Navarro College quality enhancement plan. (2006). Corsicana, TX: Navarro College.
- Navarro since 1946: Celebrating 60 years. (2006). Corsicana, TX: Navarro College.
- Nora, A. (2004). The role of habitus and cultural capital in choosing a college, transitioning from high school to higher education, and persisting in college among minority and non-minority students. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education 3*(2), 180-208.
- Pace, C. R. (1984). *Measuring the quality of college student experience*. Los Angeles: University of California Higher Education Research Institute.
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (1991). How college affects students: A third decade of research (Vol. 2). San Fransisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (2005). Theoretical developments in the study of college student departure. In A. Seidman (Ed.), *College student retention: Formula for student success* (pp. 61-87). Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.
- Popham, W. J. (2000). *Modern educational measurement: Practical guidelines for educational leaders* (3rd Ed). United States: Pearson Education Co.

Railsback, G., & Colby, A. (1988). Improving academic advising at the community college. ERIC Clearinghouse for Junior Colleges Los
 Angeles, CA. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED320647)

Seidman, A. (Ed.). (2005). College student retention: Formula for student success. Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.

- Sharkin, B. S. (2004). College counseling and student retention: Research findings and implications for counseling centers. *Journal of College Counseling*, 7(2), 99-110.
- Tinto, V. A. (1975). Dropout from higher education: A theoretical synthesis of recent research. *Review of Educational Research* 45(1), 89-125.
- Tinto, V. A. (1993). Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition (2nd Ed.). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Tinto, V. A. (2005). Moving from theory to action. In A. Seidman (Ed.),
 College student retention: Formula for student success (Epilogue).
 Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.
- Wetzel, J. N., O'Toole, D., & Peterson, S. (1999). Factors affecting student retention probabilities: A case study. *Journal of Economics and Finance*, 23(1), 45-55.
- Wild, L., & Ebbers, L. (2002). Rethinking student retention in community colleges. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 26, 503-519.

APPENDIX A

INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD-HUMAN SUBJECTS IN

RESEARCH APPROVAL LETTER

TEXAS A&M UNIVERSITY VICE PRESIDENT FOR RESEARCH - OFFICE OF RESEARCH COMPLIANCE 1186 TAMU College Station, TX 77843-1186 1500 Research Parkway, Suite B-150 979.458.1467 FAX 979.862.3176 http://researchcompliance.tamu.edu Institutional Biosafety Committee Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee Institutional Review Board DATE: 13-Oct-2006 MEMORANDUM TO: KANTOR, ANNA S TAMU-AGRICULTURAL EDUCATION(00006) FROM: Office of Research Compliance Institutional Review Board SUBJECT: Initial Review Protocol 2006-0565 Number: Factors Affecting Student Retention within a Faculty-Centered Student Advising Program at a Rural Community College Title: Review Exempt from IRB Review Category: The Institutional Review Board (IRB) has determined that the referenced protocol application meets the criteria for exemption and no further review is required. However, any amendment or modification to the protocol must be reported to the IRB and reviewed before being implemented to ensure the protocol still meets the criteria for exemption. This determination was based on the following Code of Federal Regulations: (http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/45cfr46.htm) 45 CFR 46.101(b)(4) Research involving the collection or study of existing data, documents, records, pathological specimens, or diagnostic specimens, if these sources are publicly available or if the information is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that subjects cannot be identified, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects.

APPENDIX B

PERMISSION LETTER FROM NAVARRO COLLEGE

TO USE CCSSE DATA



3200 West 7th Avenue Corsicana, Texas 75110 (903) 874-6501 FAX: (903) 874- 4636

	TO:	Anna S. Kantor Humanities Instructor		
	FROM:	Dewayne Gragg Dean of Enrollment Management		
	DATE:	August 21, 2006		
	SUBJECT:	Information for Record of Study		
I am writing this letter to grant you permission to utilize information from a recently administered student satisfaction inventory for your record of study at Texas A&M University and for subsequent publications as you work toward your doctorate under the auspices of Dr. James Lindner at Texas A&M University and Dr. Chad Davis at Texas Tech University. We collected this information during the Spring of 2006 for the				
	purpose of measuring student satisfaction in many areas across the campus but in particular their satisfaction with the student advising program. This nationally recognized student satisfaction inventory was administered to a sampling of students enrolled in classes at Navarro College, and no identifying marks that could identify the participating students were made on the surveys.			
	I look forward Please contact	to your findings, and I wish you well in this endeavor. me for additional information.		
2	outh			

Navarro College South 901 N. Martin Luther King, Jr. Blvd. Mexia, TX 76667 (254) 562-3848 FAX: (254) 562-6613

Ellis County Center 1900 John Arden Dr. Waxahachie, TX 75165 (972) 937-7612 FAX: (972) 937-8763

Navarro College Is An Equal Opportunity Affirmative Action Employer

APPENDIX C

THE COMMUNITY COLLEGE SURVEY OF

STUDENT ITEM USE AGREEMENT



Item Use Agreement The Community College Student Report

The Community College Survey of Student Engagement's (CCSSE) survey instrument, The Community College Student Report, is copyrighted. Any use of items from The Community College Student Report is prohibited without written permission from CCSSE. Any individual or organization that wishes to borrow one or more survey items from the instrument must have written permission from CCSSE and submit the details on how the items will be used.

At a minimum, the applicant for item use should submit:

- 1. List of the specific item(s) to be used;
- Raw Data from 2004 and 2006 for Navarro College CCSSE survey only
- 2. Statement of the objective of the applicant's survey or study;

The purpose of this study is to examine factors that work to determine if a faculty-centered student advisement program, which has been implemented at a rural community college, affects student retention in a positive manner. The Community College Survey of Student Engagement (CCSSE) was incorporated into the study, and data collected by this group in aggregate form provided the basis for the study. The study is a comparative study of quantitative and qualitative parameters looked at five benchmarks of active and collaborative learning, student effort, academic challenge, student faculty interaction, and support for learners based on teaching, learning and retention in community colleges with regards to personal characteristics of age, gender, ethnicity, and enrollment status. Analysis of variance provided information between the benchmarks and personal characteristics and the quality of advising, and correlations were run using the various benchmarks and personal characteristics in order to determine any connections between the benchmarks themselves and quality of advising. In addition, the Quality Enhancement Plan (QEP), created by this rural community college, is analyzed from 2004 to 2006 to see an inferred connection with the benchmarks and quality of advising because of the implementation of the QEP.

The purpose of this study is to determine if a faculty-centered student advisement program implemented at a rural community college affects student retention in a positive manner. The specific objectives of the study were to:

- 1. Describe participants' perceptions of active and collaborative learning during 2004 and 2006.
- 2. Describe participants' perceptions of student effort during 2004 and 2006.
- 3. Describe participants' perceptions of academic challenge during 2004 and 2006.
- 4. Describe participants' perceptions of student-faculty interaction during 2004 and 2006.
- Describe participants' perceptions of support for learners during 2004 and 2006.

The University of Texas at Austin Community College Survey of Student Engagement 1 University Station, D5600, Austin, TX 78712-0378

- 6. Examine the relationship between participants' 2004 and 2006 perceptions of active and collaborative learning, student effort, academic challenge, student-faculty interaction, and support for learners.
- 7. Examine participant perceptions of active and collaborative learning, student effort, academic challenge, student-faculty interaction, and support for learners and personal characteristics.
- Describe the faculty-centered student advisement program implemented at Navarro College as a means to improve teaching, learning, and retention.
- 9. Describe the faculty-centered student advisement program inferred impacts on student teaching, learning, and retention.

This study will use raw data for Navarro College from the 2004 and the 2006 survey administrations.

- 3. Description of the audience to which the survey is to be administered; N/A
- Description of survey mode, i.e., How the survey will be administered? Paper? Interviews? N/A
- 5. Description of sampling methodology; N/A
- 6. Estimated number of survey recipients; N/A
- 7. Expected start and end dates for survey administration; N/A
- If applicable: a copy of the survey instrument that incorporates the items, noting where the CCSSE items are located; N/A
- Name, title, organization and complete contact information for the principal investigator; if the requested use is for a dissertation study, please provide the same information for the dissertation committee chairperson.

Anna S. Kantor Instructor, Navarro College South 901 MLK St. Mexia, TX 76667 254-562-3848 anna.kantor@navarrocollege.edu

Dr. James Lindner Associate Professor Texas A&M University College Station, TX 77840 <u>j-lindner@tamu.edu</u>

Joint Doctoral Degree from Texas A&M University and Texas Tech University Agricultural Leadership, Education, and Communication

Agreement:

Applicant must agree to the following conditions:

- Applicant will provide to CCSSE: an electronic copy of data acquired, including frequency distributions and means on borrowed items; electronic and hard copies of the subject report or student; and the appropriate citation. The signature below also indicates permission to cite the report or study, with appropriate credit, on the CCSSE Web site.
- 2) When data on CCSSE's items are reported, applicant will include the following citation: "Items *xx* and *xx* used with permission from *The Community College Student Report*

The University of Texas at Austin Community College Survey of Student Engagement 1 University Station, D5600, Austin, TX 78712-0378
[date of survey version -- e.g., 2004] Community College Survey of Student Engagement, The University of Texas at Austin."

Permission is valid for one time use only but may be renewed with written permission 3) from CCSSE.

Anna S. Kantar Please Print Principal Investigator's Name

01 · 08 · 07 Date

Principal Investigator's Signature

Please return this information to the address listed below or via e-mail them to info@ccsse.org

The University of Texas at Austin Community College Survey of Student Engagement 1 University Station, D5600, Austin, TX 78712-0378

APPENDIX D

THE COMMUNITY COLLEGE STUDENT REPORT

SURVEY INSTRUMENT

Instructions: It is essential the shown in the following examp	hat you use a No. 2 pencil to complete this ole: ● Correct Mark ØØ⊜⊙ Incorre	s survey. ct Marks	Mark y	our ans	wers
1. Did you begin college at this	college or elsewhere? O Started here	⊖ Star	ted elsew	here	
2. Thinking about this current as would you characterize your	cademic term, how enrollment at this college? O Full-time	O Less	than full	-time	
3. Have you taken this survey in	another class this term? O Yes	O No		en i me	
4. In your experiences at this co about how often have you do	Ilege during the current school year, ne each of the following?	Very often	Often	Some- times	Neve
a. Asked questions in class or	contributed to class discussions	0	0	0	0
b. Made a class presentation		0	0	0	0
c. Prepared two or more drafts	of a paper or assignment before turning it in	0	0	0	0
various sources	t that required integrating ideas or information fr	om			
e. Come to class without comp	leting readings or assignments	0	0	0	0
f. Worked with other students	on projects during class	0	0	0	
g. Worked with classmates outs	side of class to prepare class assignments	õ	0	0	0
h. Tutored or taught other stude	ents (paid or voluntary)	0	0	0	0
i. Participated in a community-	based project as a part of a regular course	0	0	0	0
J. Used the Internet or instant r	nessaging to work on an assignment	0	0	0	0
Discussed grades or assignt	with an instructor	0	0	0	0
m. Talked about career plans wi	th an instructor or advisor	0	0	0	0
n. Discussed ideas from your re	eadings or classes with instructors outside of cla		0	0	
o. Received prompt feedback (v	written or oral) from instructors on your performa		0	0	
 P. Worked harder than you thou expectations 	ught you could to meet an instructor's standards	or	0	0	0
q. Worked with instructors on a	ctivities other than coursework	0	0	0	0
r. Discussed ideas from your re	eadings or classes with others outside of class				
(students, family members, c	o-workers, etc.)	0	0	.0	0
s. Had serious conversations w	with students of a different race or ethnicity other	than			
t. Had serious conversations w	ith students who differ from you in terms of the	. 0	0	0	0
religious beliefs, political opi	nions, or personal values	0		0	
u. Skipped class		0	0	0	0
5. During the current school yea	r, how much has your coursework at	Very	Quite	Come	Very
and conege emphasized the to	nowing mental activities?	much	a bit	Some	little
a. Memorizing facts, ideas, or m	ethods from your courses and readings so you				
can repeat them in pretty mu	ch the same form	0	0	0	0
b. Analyzing the basic elements	of an idea, experience, or theory	0	0	0	0
c. Synthesizing and organizing	ideas, information, or experiences in new ways	0	0	0	0
 Making judgments about the or methods 	value or soundness of information, arguments,	0	0	0	0
 Applying theories or concept f. Using information you have reader 	s to practical problems or in new situations ead or heard to perform a new skill	0 0	00	00	00
PLE/	ASE DO NOT MARK IN THIS AREA				
		C	000	AA	

6. During the current school year, about how much	1	In the second	Lotterstern	More	
reading and writing have you done at this college? None	1 to 4	5 to 10	11 to 20	than 20	
a. Number of assigned textbooks, manuals, books, or book-length	-				
packs of course readings	10	0	0	0.	
enjoyment or academic enrichment					
c. Number of written papers or reports of any length	0	0	0	0	
		ļŲ	10	FO	
7. Mark the response that best represents the extent to which your examination school year have challenged you to do your best work at this college.	ons duri	ng the c	urrent		
Extremely challenging ⑦ ⑤ ⑤ ③ ③ ② ①	Extrem	ely easy	,		
		1 		_	•
8. Which of the following have you done, are you doing, or do you plan to do while attending this college?	ve ne	l plan to do	l ha	ive not ne nor	
a Internation field experience on experience or elinical ecciments		-	pla	n to do	
A. Internship, held experience, co-op experience, or clinical assignment b. English as a second language course		0		0	
c. Developmental/remedial reading course		0		0	,
d. Developmental/remedial writing course		0		0	
e. Developmental/remedial math course		0		0	
f. Study skills course		0		0	
g. Honors course		0		0	
h. College orientation program or course		0		0	
i. Organized learning communities (linked courses/study groups led by					
faculty or counselors)		0		0	
			·		
9. How much does this college emphasize each of the following?	Very	Quite	Some	Very	
en nen maan deee <u>mie eenege</u> emphasize each er me fonoming:	mucn	abit	1	little	
a. Encouraging you to spend significant amounts of time studying	0	0	0	0	
b. Providing the support you need to help you succeed at this college	0	0	0	0	
c. Encouraging contact among students from different economic, social, and racial exception of the students from different economic.	al				
d Helping you cope with your pop-academic	0	0	0	0	
responsibilities (work family etc.)	0			0	
e. Providing the support you need to thrive socially	00	. 0	0	0	
f. Providing the financial support you need to afford your education	00	0	0	0	
g. Using computers in academic work	0	0	0	.0	
5 5 5 7	0				

	7-day week doing each of the following?	None	1-5	6 - 10	11 - 20	21 - 30	More than 30
	a. Preparing for class (studying, reading, writing, rehearsing,						1
	b. Working for pay	0.0	0	0	0	0	00
	c. Participating in college-sponsored activities (organizations,						
	intramural sports, etc.)	0'	0	0			
	d. Providing care for dependents living with you (parents,	'					
	e. Commuting to and from classes	00	00	0.0	.00	0	00
						10	10
11.	Mark the number that best represents the quality of your relat	tionshi	ps with	people	at this c	ollege.	
	Your relationship with:		pe	heebio ;	at the c	onege.	
	a Other Studente					۰.	
	Friendly		Unfiles				
	supportive, sense of belonging 7 6 5 4 3 2	1	sense o	of aliena	tion	ve,	
	b. Instructors		•				
	Available, helpful, sympathetic 7 6 6 9 9		Unavail	able ur	helnful	unevm	nathati
	C C C C C		onavan	ubie, ui	merpran	, anoym	pament
	Helpful, considerate, flexible ⑦ ⑤ ④ ④ ③ ②	1	Unhelp	iul, inco	nsidera	te, rigid	ļ
2.	Helpful, considerate, flexible ⑦ ⑤ ④ ④ ② ② How much has YOUR EXPERIENCE AT THIS COLLEGE contri your knowledge, skills, and personal development in the follo	① buted t	Unhelpt to reas?	ful, inco Very much	nsidera Quite a bit	te, rigid Some	Very
2.	Helpful, considerate, flexible ⑦ ⑥ ④ ③ ② How much has YOUR EXPERIENCE AT THIS COLLEGE contri your knowledge, skills, and personal development in the follo a. Acquiring a broad general education	① buted t	Unhelpt to reas?	Very much	Quite	te, rigid	Very
2.	Helpful, considerate, flexible ⑦ ⑤ ④ ③ ② How much has YOUR EXPERIENCE AT THIS COLLEGE contri your knowledge, skills, and personal development in the follo a. Acquiring a broad general education b. Acquiring job or work-related knowledge and skills	① buted t	Unhelpt to reas?	Very much	Quite a bit	Some	Very little
2.	Helpful, considerate, flexible ⑦ ⑤ ④ ③ ② How much has YOUR EXPERIENCE AT THIS COLLEGE contri your knowledge, skills, and personal development in the follo a. Acquiring a broad general education b. Acquiring lob or work-related knowledge and skills c. Writing clearly and effectively d. Speaking clearly and effectively	1 buted t wing a	Unhelpi to reas?	Very much	Quite a bit	Some	Very little
2.	Helpful, considerate, flexible ⑦ ⑤ ④ ④ ③ ② How much has YOUR EXPERIENCE AT THIS COLLEGE contri your knowledge, skills, and personal development in the follo a. Acquiring a broad general education b. Acquiring job or work-related knowledge and skills c. Writing clearly and effectively d. Speaking clearly and effectively e. Thinking critically and analytically	1 buted t	Unhelpi to reas?	Very much	Quite a bit	Some	Very little
2.	Helpful, considerate, flexible ⑦ ⑥ ④ ③ ② How much has YOUR EXPERIENCE AT THIS COLLEGE contri your knowledge, skills, and personal development in the follo a. Acquiring a broad general education b. Acquiring job or work-related knowledge and skills c. Writing clearly and effectively d. Speaking clearly and effectively e. Thinking critically and analytically f. Solving numerical problems Output the second state of t	① buted t wing a	Unhelpi to reas?	Very much	Quite a bit	Some	Very little
2.	Helpful, considerate, flexible ⑦ ⑥ ④ ③ ② How much has YOUR EXPERIENCE AT THIS COLLEGE contri your knowledge, skills, and personal development in the follo a. Acquiring a broad general education b. Acquiring job or work-related knowledge and skills c. Writing clearly and effectively d. Speaking clearly and effectively e. Thinking critically and analytically f. Solving numerical problems g. Using computing and information technology h. Working effectively with others	① · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Unhelpi to reas?	Very much	Quite a bit O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O	Some	Very little
2.	Helpful, considerate, flexible ⑦ ⑤ ④ ③ ② How much has YOUR EXPERIENCE AT THIS COLLEGE contri your knowledge, skills, and personal development in the follo a. Acquiring a broad general education b. Acquiring job or work-related knowledge and skills c. Writing clearly and effectively d. Speaking clearly and effectively e. Thinking critically and analytically f. Solving numerical problems g. Using computing and information technology h. Working effectively with others i. Learning effectively on your own	J interval	Unhelpi to reas?	Very much	Quite a bit 0 0 0 0 0	Some	Very little
2.	Helpful, considerate, flexible ① ⑤ ④ ④ ③ ② How much has YOUR EXPERIENCE AT THIS COLLEGE contri your knowledge, skills, and personal development in the follo a. Acquiring a broad general education b. Acquiring job or work-related knowledge and skills c. Writing clearly and effectively d. Speaking clearly and effectively e. Thinking critically and analytically f. Solving numerical problems g. Using computing and information technology h. Working effectively with others i. Learning effectively on your own j. Understanding people of other racial and ethnic backgrounds	D buted t wing a	Unhelpt	Very much	Quite a bit 0 0 0 0 0 0	Some	Very little
2.	Helpful, considerate, flexible ① ⑤ ④ ④ ③ ② How much has YOUR EXPERIENCE AT THIS COLLEGE contri your knowledge, skills, and personal development in the follo a. Acquiring a broad general education b. Acquiring job or work-related knowledge and skills c. Writing clearly and effectively d. Speaking clearly and effectively e. Thinking critically and analytically f. Solving numerical problems g. Using computing and information technology h. Working effectively with others i. Learning effectively on your own j. Understanding yourself k. Understanding people of other racial and ethnic backgrounds l. Developing a personal code of values and ethnics	D buted t wing a	Unhelpi to reas?	Very much 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Quite a bit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Some 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Very little
2.	Helpful, considerate, flexible ① ⑤ ④ ④ ③ ② How much has YOUR EXPERIENCE AT THIS COLLEGE contri your knowledge, skills, and personal development in the follo a. Acquiring a broad general education b. Acquiring job or work-related knowledge and skills c. Writing clearly and effectively d. Speaking clearly and effectively e. Thinking critically and analytically f. Solving numerical problems g. Using computing and information technology h. Working effectively with others 1. Learning effectively on your own j. Understanding people of other racial and ethnic backgrounds l. Developing a personal code of values and ethics m. Contributing to the welfare of your community h. Developing clearer career goals	①	Unhelpi to reas?	Very much	Quite a bit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Some 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	
2.	Helpful, considerate, flexible ① ⑤ ④ ④ ③ ② How much has YOUR EXPERIENCE AT THIS COLLEGE contri your knowledge, skills, and personal development in the follo a. Acquiring a broad general education b. Acquiring job or work-related knowledge and skills c. Writing clearly and effectively d. Speaking clearly and effectively e. Thinking critically and enfectively f. Solving numerical problems g. Using computing and information technology h. Working effectively with others i. Learning effectively on your own j. Understanding people of other racial and ethnic backgrounds l. Developing a personal code of values and ethics m. Contributing to the welfare of your community n. Developing clearer career goals o. Gaining information about career opportunities	D buted t wing a	Unhelpt	Very much 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Quite a bit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Some	
2.	Helpful, considerate, flexible ① ⑤ ⑥ ④ ③ ② How much has YOUR EXPERIENCE AT THIS COLLEGE contri your knowledge, skills, and personal development in the follo a. Acquiring a broad general education b. Acquiring job or work-related knowledge and skills c. Writing clearly and effectively d. Speaking clearly and effectively e. Thinking critically and analytically f. Solving numerical problems g. Using computing and information technology h. Working effectively with others l. Learning effectively on your own j. Understanding people of other racial and ethnic backgrounds l. Developing a personal code of values and ethics m. Contributing to the welfare of your community n. Developing clearer career goals o. Gaining information about career opportunities	D buted t wing a	Unhelpi to reas?	Very much 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Quite a bit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Some	

	13. This follow are to	890,844 section has three j wing services,'(2) I b you AT THIS COL	parts. F 10W S LEGE.	OOO Please a ATISFIE	⊂∎∎ nswer a D you a	PLEASE	DO NOT M D D T Section: he serv	s, indica	s area			ou use Tthe set	the
		I	(1)	Freque	ncy of L Rarely/	Don't	3998-995 (* 000) *	(2) Satis Some-	faction Not		(3)	Importa Some-	Not
	 a. Acadei b. Career c. Job pla d. Peer o e. Skill la f. Child of g. Finano h. Compu i. Studer j. Transfi k. Servic disabili 	mic advising/plannin counseling acement assistance r other tutoring bs (writing, math, etc are sial aid advising uter lab at organizations er credit assistance es to students with ities	Often g 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	times 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Never	N.A. 00000000000000000000000000000000000		what 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	at all	0000000000		what 000000000000000000000000000000000000	
	14. How from a. V b. C c. A d. L e. 1	likely is it that the class or from this Vorking full-time Caring for dependent Academically unprep .ack of finances Transfer to a 4-year of	followi colleg s ared college c	ing issu <u>e</u> ? (<i>Plez</i> or univer	es woul ase resp sity	d cause ond to e	you to each ite	withdra m)	W	Very likely O O O Extre	Likely O O O O O	Some- what likely	Not likely 0 0 0 0 0
	16. How	supportive are yo	r imme	diate fai	mily of y	our atte	ending <u>t</u>	his colle	ege? Pr	 Quite Extre Quite Quite 	e a bit emely e a bit	○ N ○ S ○ N dary	ot very omewhat ot very Not
	atter a. (b. (c.] d. (e. s f. (Complete a certificat Dotain an associate of Transfer to a 4-year of Dotain or update job- Self-improvement/pe Change careers	(Please e progra degree college o related rsonal e	g are yo e respon am or univer skills enjoymer	nd to ear	ch item)				goal 0 0 0 0 0 0			a goal
-		-				4			-				

		PLEASE DO NOT MARK IN THIS AREA
		-
i	18.	Indicate which of the following are <u>sources</u> you use to pay Major Minor source
1		a. My own income/savings O O O b. Parent or spouse/significant other's income/savings O O O c. Employer contributions O O O O d. Grants and scholarships O O O O e. Student loans (bank, etc.) O O O O f. Public assistance O O O O
	19.	Since high school, which of the following types of schools have you attended other than the one you are now attending? (<i>Please mark all that apply</i>)
•		 Proprietary (private) school or training program Public vocational-technical school Another community or technical college 4-year college or university None
	20.	When do you plan to take classes at this college again?
		 I will accomplish my goal(s) during this term and will not be returning I have no current plan to return Within the next 12 months Uncertain
	21	At this college in what range is your everall college grade everage?
•		 A A - to B+ B B - to C+ C C - or lower Do not have a GPA at this school Pass/fail classes only
	22	When do you most frequently take alagoes at this college? (Mark and anti-
		Day classes (morning or afternoon) Evening classes Weekend classes
	23.	How many TOTAL credit hours have you earned at this college, not counting the courses you are currently taking this term?
		 None 1-14 credits 15-29 credits 30-44 credits 45-60 credits Over 60 credits
		5 1 1

	24.	At what other types of institutions are you taking classes this term? (Please m	ark all that ap	oly)
_		○ None		
H, 1000		⊖ High school		
		O Vocational/technical school		1
-		Another community of technical conege 4-year college/university		
-		⊖ Other		
-				~
	25.	How many classes are you presently taking at OTHER institutions?		
;				
-				
-		○ 2 classes		
		◯ 3 classes		
		○ 4 classes or more		
,	26.	Would you recommend this college to a friend or family member?		
-	27.	How would you evaluate your entire educational experience at this college?		
-		⊖ Excellent		
-		⊖ Good		
-		O Fair		
-				
-	20	Do you have children who live with you?		
-	20.			
-				
1	29.	Mark your age group.		
		O Under 18		
		○ 10 to 19		
		○ 22 to 24		
		○ 25 to 29		
2005				
		○ 50 to 64		
-		○ 65+		
-				
	30.	Your sex:		
-		○ Male ○ Female		
-				
-	31.	Are you married?		
-		Ves No		
-				
-	30	In English your native (first) language?		
	52.			
-				
		6 .		

33.	Are you an international student or fore	gn national?			
	○ Yes ○ No				
	1			. 1	•
34.	What is your racial identification? (Mark	only one)	. 1		
	American Indian or other Native American Asian, Asian American or Pacific Islander				
	 Native Hawaiian 	· ·			-
	Black or African American, Non-Hispanic White Non Hispanic				
	Hispanic, Latino, Spanish				
	⊖ Other				•
35.	What is the highest academic credentia	I you have earned?			
	⊖ None	۰.			
	High school diploma or GED				
	Associate degree				
	O Bachelor's degree				
	Master's/doctoral/professional degree	-			•
36.	What is the highest level of education o	btained by your:	Father	Mother	
	a. Not a high school graduate		0	0	
	b. High school diploma or GED		0	00	
	 Some college, did not complete degree Associate degree 		0	0	
	e. Bachelor's degree		0	0	
	f. Master's degree/1st professional		0	00	
	h. Unknown		0	0	
37.	Using the list provided, please fill in the program or major. Using the first column the second column, indicate the second	bubbles that corresp n, indicate the first no 1 number in the progr	oond to the o umber in the am code.	code indicating program code	your e, using
	33				
	(()				
	(5) (6)				
	D				
	3				

	Additio these it				
	Additio these it				
	Additio these it	•			
	Additio these it				
	Additio these it			1	
	these it	nal Item	s (Pleas	e respo	ond to
		ems if r	equeste	d)	1000
	and the second second		_		
	1. @	B	C	D	E
1 \[1 \] \[1		@ '	0	0	G
	· 2. @	٢	٢	Nº .	
	3. @	B	C	Ō	Ē.
B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B					1940 195
	4. 🔿	₿	©	D	E
	1.000				
	· 5. @	B	C	• •	E.
	c a	@`	0	(1)	0
	0, (4)	6			
BBBBBBBBBB	7. @	₿	C	O	E
35353535355					Call .
000000000000	· 8. @	B	©	0	E
	9. @	₿	C	0	Ē
	10 0	Ø	6	6	6
	10		٢		
	11. @	₿	C	D	E
00000000000					
0000000000000	12. A	B	©	0	E
2222222222	e conversion e		100	2012 12 1	
33333333333	13. @	B	C	0	E
	14 (0)	B	0	6	E
6666666666	14. 0	•	•	•	
0000000000	15. @	₿	C	0	E
8888888888					
99999999999	16. @	B	C	Ð	E
	17 @	B	C	Ø	E
		-	-	-	
计算机 化学生 化二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十	18. ®	₿	C	D	E
Your responses will remain confidential and	10 0	(6	(5)	(5)
individual responses will not be reported.	19. @	0	(L)		e
	20. @	₿	C	D	E
Thank you for sharing your views.					
,					
x® forms by Pearson NCS MM252416-2 654321 ED99 Printed in U.S.	۵				

VITA

Anna Schuster Division of Le Department of Navarro Colle Mexia, Texas Phone: 254-56 E-Mail: anna.	r Kantor etters f Humanities ge – South Campus 76667 52-0414 kantor@navarrocollege.edu
Education	
Ed.D.	Texas A&M/Texas Tech University, completion May 2007 Agricultural Education Dissertation: Factors Affecting Student Retention within a Faculty-Centered Student Advisement Program at a Rural Community College
M.S.	Texas A&M University, May 1995 Major: Agricultural Education
B.S.	Texas A&M University, December 1988 Major: Agricultural Development Minor: Journalism
Professional E	Experience
August 2001 t Present	o Faculty Division of Letters Department of Humanities Navarro College – South Campus Mexia, Texas 76667
August 1997 t August 2001	 Adjunct Faculty Member Division of Letters Department of Humanities Navarro College – South Campus Mexia, Texas 76667
March 1990 to November 199	 The Texas A&M University System Texas Agricultural Extension Service College Station, Texas 77843 Teaching Assistant – AGED 340